Superconducting Flexible Cables For Cryogenic Applications

by

George A. Hernandez

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Auburn University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Auburn, Alabama December 10, 2016

Keywords: superconductors, flex cables, stripline, microstrip

Copyright 2016 by George A. Hernandez

Approved by

Michael C. Hamilton, Chair, Associate Professor of Electrical and Computer Engineering Fa Foster Dai, Professor of Electrical and Computer Engineering Michael E. Baginski, Associate Professor of Electrical and Computer Engineering Lloyd S. Riggs, Professor of Electrical and Computer Engineering Minseo Park, Professor of Physics

Abstract

In systems for cryogenic electronics experiments and applications containing multiple temperature stages down to the milliKelvin temperature range, such as in quantum computing research performed in dilution refrigerators, significant effort is undertaken to limit thermal leakage between the various temperature stages. In order to route many RF/microwave/high-speed signals, a large number of semi-rigid coaxial cables are generally used. From a practical perspective the number of microwave connections is limited; due to the thermal load imposed on the cryogenic system, as well as space and volume constraints within the refrigerator. As advances in cryogenic electronics are made, the number of connections that can be achieved could potentially limit its scalability. Consequently, there is a need for high-density, low-loss, low thermal leakage cables. Polyimide has been shown to have exceptional mechanical and thermal properties at cryogenic temperatures. Polyimide as a substrate material with Nb traces has been commonly used in relatively low-frequency (< MHz) applications such as superconducting focal plane arrays. This work addresses the need for even lower loss microwave interconnects by using thin-film processing methods to fabricate controlled-impedance superconducting microstrip cables on 20 μ m thick PI-2611 polyimide and on 50 μ m thick E-series Kapton films with 250 nm thick Nb traces and ground planes. In this work, we also studied embedded microstrip transmission lines and Nb cladded with Cu and Al microstrip transmission lines. We also implemented distributed element models to match measurements that took into account the kinetic inductance effects on the microwave performance. The fabricated microstrip flex cables were measured at 4.2 K, in liquid He, and up to a frequency of 14 GHz.

Acknowledgments

The author expresses his gratitude and appreciation for the technical guidance and financial support provided by Dr. Hamilton and Dr. Tuckerman in the pursuit of this work. Their patience, suggestions, and input to this work was a tremendous help in my understanding and growth as an individual. This work would also have not been possible without the support of Dr. Ellis, Mr. Baugh, and Mr. Sellers who ensured day-to-day lab equipment was operational.

The author also extends his gratitude and appreciation to his committee members, Dr. Baginski, Dr. Dai, and Dr. Riggs for agreeing to be part of my committee and for their feedback. To Dr. Park for agreeing to be the outside reader for this work.

To my colleague and lab mate, Rujun Bai, who was always willing to listen to my ideas. To Dr. Pingye Xu and Dr. Phillip Bailey for their insight and fruitful discussions. To Jordan Hullett, Hunter Burch, Harrison Burch, and Daniel Martinez, for the conversations and perspective on research and life.

To all the T-PAC scholars who made the workshops fun and enlightening. To Dr. Russell for organizing the various workshops, discussions, advice, and for accepting me into the program.

To my parents, who have always encouraged me, for their patience, and for their support.

Table of Contents

Abstra	ct	ii
Acknow	vledgments	iii
List of	Figures	vii
List of	Tables	ix
List of	Abbreviations	xx
1 In	troduction	1
1.1	Scientific motivation	1
1.2	Superconducting materials selection	2
1.3	Microwave properties of superconductors	3
	1.3.1 Kinetic inductance	9
1.4	Flexible cables	10
1.5	Outline of this dissertation	21
2 D	esign and Layout of Flex Cables	23
2.1	AlN flip-chip board	27
2.2	AL-X flex cables	28
	2.2.1 CBCPW	28
2.3	Kapton flex cables	30
	2.3.1 CBCPW	30
	2.3.2 CPW	31
	2.3.3 Microstrip	31
2.4	PI-2611 polyimide flex cables	35
	2.4.1 A 5 cm long microstrip	35
	2.4.2 A 1 meter long microstrip	38

		2.4.3	A 5 cm long stripline	38
		2.4.4	A 1 meter long stripline	39
		2.4.5	Meandered microstrip	45
3	Fa	bricatio	on Processes	53
	3.1	AlN		53
	3.2	AL-X	CBCPW	54
	3.3	Free-s	tanding Kapton	56
		3.3.1	CPW and CBCPW	56
		3.3.2	Microstrip	58
	3.4	Polyin	nide PI-2611	59
		3.4.1	Stripline	60
		3.4.2	Microstrip	70
		3.4.3	Embedded microstrip	74
	3.5	Flex c	able release process	74
4	M	easuren	nent Setup and Calibration	76
	4.1	Measu	rement equipment and automation	76
		4.1.1	T_c measurements	77
		4.1.2	Microwave switches	80
	4.2	Calibr	ation overview	87
	4.3	Cryog	enic calibration	91
		4.3.1	Calibration standards and procedures	92
		4.3.2	Measurement of calibration standards at room temperature	93
		4.3.3	Cryogenic calibration process in liquid He	98
		4.3.4	Assembly of calibration standards	98
5	Re	esults a	nd Discussion	101
	5.1	Simula	ation models	102
	5.2	Kineti	c inductance impact on the microwave performance	103

	5.3	A 5 cm long Nb and Cu microstrip with a Ti adhesion layer on Kapton $\ . \ . \ .$	104
	5.4	A 5 cm long Nb microstrip on Kapton	108
	5.5	A 5 cm long Nb and Cu microstrip with a Ti adhesion layer on PI-2611	111
	5.6	A 25 cm long Nb microstrip on PI-2611	118
	5.7	A 55 cm long Nb/Cu microstrip on PI-2611 \ldots	118
	5.8	A 15 cm long Nb/Al microstrip on PI-2611	121
	5.9	A 25 cm long embedded Nb microstrip on PI-2611	124
	5.10	Impact of excess solder on the microwave performance	124
6	Со	nclusion	129
7	Fu	ture Work	131
Bib	oliogr	aphy	133
Ap	pend	ices	139
А	Mi	crowave switches	140
В	Fa	brication travelers	143

List of Figures

1.1	Periodic table of elements with known superconductors at ambient pressure and	
	under high pressure highlighted in blue and green, respectively. Adapted from [13].	4
1.2	Relationship between sheet resistance and transition temperature for sputter de-	
	posited Nb films on SiO ₂ . Adapted from [10]. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	4
1.3	Temperature dependence of the normal electrons (N_n) and superconducting elec-	
	trons (N_s) . Adapted from [16]	6
1.4	Two-fluid circuit model for a superconductor. \mathbf{N}_s is the number density of su-	
	perconducting electrons and \mathbf{N}_n is the number density of the normal electrons.	
	Adapted from [14]	6
1.5	(a) Cross-sectional image of a microstrip (b) equivalent circuit model with the	
	kinetic inductance (L_k) included as a series element. Adapted from [23]	10
1.6	Cross-sectional diagram of a rectangular superconducting film. ${\cal J}$ is the surface	
	current and λ is the London penetration depth. a and b are the half width and	
	height, respectively. Adapted from [22].	11
1.7	(a) Cross-section of a Nb DC flex cable (b) top-view of the Nb flex cable mounted	
	onto a PCB. Adapted from [24]	12
1.8	Resistance vs. temperature measurement of a DC flex cable with a $\mathrm{Ti}/\mathrm{Nb}/\mathrm{Ti}$	
	signal trace with a line width of 25 μ m. Adapted from [24]	13

1.9	(a) Schematic cross-section of a Nb DC flex cable attached to a LC filter and	
	detector (b) LC filter attached to the flex cable by a bump array. Adapted	
	from [25]	14
1.10	Resistance vs. temperature measurement of 12 $\mu {\rm m}$ (shown in blue) and 14 $\mu {\rm m}$	
	(shown in red) wide Nb traces embedded in polyimide. Adapted from [25]	15
1.11	MgB ₂ flex cable with 350 μm wide traces interfaced to a PCB through an FFC.	
	Adapted from [26]	15
1.12	(a) Resistance vs. temperature measurement of a MgB_2 trace on sapphire and	
	on a YSZ flexible substrate (b) critical current measurement as a function of	
	temperature of MgB ₂ on sapphire for a 2 μ m wide trace and measurement through	
	the flex of a 350 $\mu \mathrm{m}$ wide trace, interfaced with an FFC connector. Adapted	
	from [26]	16
1.13	(a) YBCO flex cable connected to a <i>Min-E-con</i> DC adapter and (b) flex cable	
	mounted onto a cryocooler. Adapted from [27]	17
1.14	Critical current measurements of a YBCO flex cable as a function of line width.	
	Adapted from [27]	18
1.15	(a) High-density superconducting Al flex cable for ATCPol (b) close-up view	
	of the wire bonds attached onto the flex cable and to the support substrate.	
	Adapted from [28]	18
1.16	Cross-section diagram of Al traces embedded in polyimide with a Si support	
	substrate. Adapted from [29]	19
1.17	(a) Microstrip on Kapton Dupont Pyralux AP-855R with 8 signal traces (b) $\rm S_{21}$	
	measurement comparison of the flex cable with a solid ground plane (solid line)	
	and patterned ground plane (dashed line). Adapted from [1]	19

1.18	(a) Stripline flex cables interfaced with G3PO connectors (b) close-up of the	
	G3PO connectors interfaced to flex signal line and ground. Adapted from [2]. $% \left[\left(1-\frac{1}{2}\right) \right) =0$.	20
1.19	Microwave measurements at room temperature of a 16 channel flex cable inter-	
	faced with G3PO connectors. Adapted from [2]	21
2.1	A 3D model of the copper holder and the GPPO connectors that would be used	
	to interface to the AlN substrate	24
2.2	ADS layout of CBCPW transmission lines on AlN for flip-chip bonding flex cables.	25
2.3	Simulation model for one end of a 5 mm long CBCPW on AlN	25
2.4	(a) S_{11} and (b) S_{21} simulations of a 5 mm long CBCPW on an AlN substrate	26
2.5	ADS layout of a CBCPW design for a 50 $\mu \mathrm{m}$ thick AL-X cable. The layout was	
	designed to fit on a 100 mm diameter Si wafer.	28
2.6	Simulation model for a 1.2 mm long CBCPW on AL-X.	29
2.7	(a) S_{11} and (b) S_{21} simulations of a CBCPW on AL-X	29
2.8	(a) ADS layout of a CBCPW for a ${\sim}50~\mu{\rm m}$ thick Kapton film with a signal line	
	width of 121 $\mu \mathrm{m}$ and 11.2 mm in length (b) meander version of a CBCPW with	
	a direct length of 42.6 mm.	30
2.9	Simulation model for a 11.2 mm long CBCPW on Kapton	31
2.10	ADS simulation of (a) S_{11} and (b) S_{21} of a CBCPW on Kapton	32
2.11	ADS layout of (a) a straight CPW on Kapton with a signal line width of 1070	
	μm and gap of 40 μm (b) a mean dered version with a direct length of 43.6 mm.	33
2.12	Simulation model for a 11.22 mm long CPW on Kapton	33

2.13	ADS simulation of (a) S_{11} and (b) S_{21} of a CPW on Kapton	34
2.14	ADS layout of a microstrip designed for a ${\sim}50~\mu{\rm m}$ thick Kapton substrate	35
2.15	S_{11} simulation for a line width of 124 μ m and after adjustment to a line width of 120 μ m, after simulation.	36
2.16	ADS layout for 5 cm long microstrip lines and resonators on PI-2611 with varying line widths. The solid square on the left of the design is a process monitoring area used for measuring the sheet resistance of the sputter deposited Nb	37
2.17	S_{11} simulations of a 5 cm long microstrip with varying solder pad lengths on PI-2611	37
2.18	Layout for a one meter long microstrip with two signal conductors on a 100 mm diameter Si wafer.	38
2.19	Simulation model for a one meter long microstrip on PI-2611	39
2.20	ADS simulation of (a) S_{11} and (b) S_{21} of a 1 meter long microstrip	40
2.21	Layout for a 5 cm long stripline on a 100 mm diameter Si wafer	41
2.22	A single 5 cm long stripline is shown with vias to ground	41
2.23	S_{11} simulation of a stripline for two different line widths, showing an improvement in match with a 12 μ m line width.	42
2.24	ADS FEM simulation of (a) S_{11} and (b) S_{21} of a 2 mm long stripline with a CPW launch on both ends.	43
9 95	Lavout of a one motor long stripling flow cable with all the lavors shown. Two	

2.25 Layout of a one meter long stripline flex cable with all the layers shown. Two cables with two signal lines on each cable on a 125 mm Si diameter wafer is shown. 44

2.26	A close-up view of the two signal lines that are in parallel is shown in pink. The	
	yellow wide regions is the patterned ground plane	44
2.27	Mask design for meandered microstrip transmission lines and resonators with	
	lengths ranging from ~ 15 to 55 cm	46
2.28	Simulation model for a \sim 55 cm long microstrip	47
2.29	ADS simulation of (a) $\rm S_{11}$ and (b) $\rm S_{21}$ simulations of a ${\sim}55~\rm cm$ long microstrip	
	design	48
2.30	Simulation model for a ~ 25 cm long microstrip	49
2.31	ADS simulation of (a) S_{11} and (b) S_{21} of a ${\sim}25~{\rm cm}$ long microstrip on PI-2611	50
2.32	Mask design for meandered microstrip transmission lines and resonators with	
	lengths ranging from ~ 15 to 55 cm	51
2.33	ADS simulation of (a) S_{11} and (b) S_{21} of a ${\sim}15~{\rm cm}$ long microstrip on PI-2611	52
3.1	AlN substrate with CPW patterns and UBM metallization for flip-chip attach-	
	ment of an individual flex cable	54
3.2	Nb on AL-X (a) without ion milling (b) with 2 minutes of ion milling treatment.	55
3.3	(a) CBCPW on a 30 $\mu \mathrm{m}$ thick AL-X (b) a representative AL-X flex sample	
	mounted onto a AlN substrate.	56
3.4	CPW with topside Nb metallization on free-standing Kapton before UBM depo-	
	sition.	57
3.5	(a) CPW on a Kapton film with In bumps (b) a CPW flip-chip bonded onto a	
	AlN substrate.	58

3.6	Microstrip fabrication process on Kapton (a) bare Kapton film (b) photoresist	
	was applied and patterned with microstrip design and metal is deposited (c) a	
	lift-off process is performed (d) photoresist is applied and solder based is defined	
	on the signal trace (e) lift-off process is repeated to leave the solder base on the	
	signal line and (f) the ground plane of the microstrip is deposited	59
3.7	Microstrip transmission lines on E-series Kapton before the ground plane metal-	
	lization.	60
3.8	Stripline fabrication process flow (a) Si substrate is deposited with Cr/Al release	
	layer (b) Nb ground plane is sputter deposited (c) spin-on PI-2611 to a 10 $\mu {\rm m}$	
	thick film (d) deposit Al (e) pattern and wet etch the Al (f) dry etch the polyimide	
	to make contact to the ground plane	63
3.9	Stripline fabrication process flow continued (g) Etch the Al hard mask (h) pattern	
	the signal and via ground contact pads (i) sputter deposit Nb (j) lift-off signal	
	and ground contact pads (k) spin-on PI-2611 to a 10 $\mu \mathrm{m}$ thickness (l) deposit Al	
	hard mask to etch second via	64
3.10	Stripline fabrication continued (n) photoresist is applied to to define the second	
	via and the Al hard mask is etched (o) second polyimide layer is etched to make	
	contact to the via contact pad (p) Al hard mask is wet etched (q) pattern the	
	top ground ground plane and via contact to the underlying ground plane $\ . \ . \ .$	65
3.11	Stripline fabrication continued (r) ground plane is deposited (s) groundplane is	
	sputter deposited and contact to via is made (t) photoresist is patterned for	
	solder base metallization (u) solder base is deposited (v) lift-off of the solder base	
	is performed (w) stripline sample is released from the underlying substrate in a	
	salt bath	66

3.12	A set of 5 cm stripline flex cables released from a 125 mm diameter Si wafer	67
3.13	A set of 1 meter long stripline flex cables released from a 125 mm diameter Si	
	wafer	67
3.14	SEM image of via01 (ground to the first dielectric layer) covered in polyimide. $\ .$	68
3.15	SEM image of via01 and via12 shown with via12 (unfilled)	68
3.16	SEM of the launch region showing the vias and the top signal/ground metallization.	69
3.17	Microstrip fabrication process on PI-2611 (a) release layer is deposited onto a	
	Si wafer (b) PI-2611 is applied and cured in two steps to achieve a 20 $\mu \mathrm{m}$ thick	
	dielectric (c) signal layer is sputter deposited (d) solder base is deposited by	
	EBPVD (e) samples are released from the wafer (f) ground plane of the microstrip	
	is sputter deposited.	72
3.18	A 5 cm flex cable fabricated on PI-2611 after backside Nb metallization	73
3.19	A one meter microstrip after release from a 100 mm diameter Si wafer	73
3.20	Current density versus applied potential. The regions for aluminum dissolution	
	are shown as a light grey line and as a dark line for chromium. Adapted from [42].	75
4.1	are shown as a light grey line and as a dark line for chromium. Adapted from [42]. Cryo Industries of America pulse tube based cryostat.	75 77
4.14.2	are shown as a light grey line and as a dark line for chromium. Adapted from [42]. Cryo Industries of America pulse tube based cryostat	75 77 78
4.14.24.3	are shown as a light grey line and as a dark line for chromium. Adapted from [42]. Cryo Industries of America pulse tube based cryostat	75 77 78
4.14.24.3	are shown as a light grey line and as a dark line for chromium. Adapted from [42]. Cryo Industries of America pulse tube based cryostat	75777879
4.14.24.34.4	are shown as a light grey line and as a dark line for chromium. Adapted from [42]. Cryo Industries of America pulse tube based cryostat	75777879

4.5	LabVIEW block diagram for the acquisition of resistance data	82
4.6	Front panel for a LabVIEW program that allows the user to ramp the tempera-	
	ture to a given set point and acquire resistance data as a function of increasing	
	temperature.	82
4.7	PCB for four-wire resistance measurements	83
4.8	Sample holder for 2.1 cm \times 2.1 cm sized samples	83
4.9	Equipment used for controlling microwave switches and ancillary hardware used	
	to measure the resistance of samples	84
4.10	LabVIEW front panel for controlling two radiall RF switches	85
4.11	Schematic diagram of the equipment used to control radiall switches. Ground	
	wire is connected to (C) on pin 1, the voltage outputs on the relay are connected	
	to the normally open (NO), and the voltage input is connected on (C) of pin 2	
	on the relay	85
4.12	An as-received radiall six-position RF switch.	86
4.13	Radiall switch with the PCB removed and connections soldered directly. Red is	
	the common ground, blue is signal, and yellow is the reset	86
4.14	A simplified block diagram of a network analyzer. Adapted from [44]	88
4.15	Calibration process for reducing systematic measurement (a) directivity (b) iso-	
	lation (c) source and (d) load errors. Adapted from [45]	89
4.16	Frequency response and reflection and transmission tracking errors (a) short or	
	open connected (b) amplitude of signal compared to reference receiver A (c)	
	thru measurement for transmission tracking error and (d) amplitude of signal	
	comparison to receiver B . Adapted from [45]	90

4.17	A representative set of calibration standards assembled on Southwest Microwave	
	edge launch connectors.	93
4.18	A representative ~ 25 cm long microstrip line as a thru standard	93
4.19	Close-up view of a thin-film NiCr chip resistor.	94
4.20	\mathbf{S}_{11} measurement for two open standards assembled on edge launch connectors	95
4.21	\mathbf{S}_{11} measurement for two short standards assembled on edge launch connectors.	95
4.22	\mathbf{S}_{11} measurement for two load standards assembled on edge launch connectors	96
4.23	S_{11} measurement of a open standard assembled on an edge launch connector and a 85052D open standard for comparison	96
4.24	S_{11} measurement of a short standard assembled on an edge launch connector and a 85052D short standard for comparison	97
4.25	S_{11} measurement of a load standard assembled on an edge launch connectors and a 85052D load standard for comparison.	97
4.26	A rod for mounting samples in a Dewar with a microstrip sample mounted for testing.	98
4.27	Topside of the rod with SMA connectors shown	99
4.28	Representative resistance vs. temperature measurement of the thin film NiCr resistor using a two wire measurement setup.	100
5.1	Distributed element model used in Keysight ADS schematic tool	103
5.2	Simulation of a 5 cm long microstrip in ADS demonstrating the impact of kinetic inductance on S_{11} .	103

5.3	Simulation of a 5 cm long microstrip in ADS demonstrating the impact of kinetic inductance on S_{21} .	104
5.4	Temperature vs. resistance measurement of the signal trace and ground plane of a Ti/Nb microstrip on Kapton.	105
5.5	A Ti/Nb microstrip model on Tab-E Kapton implemented in ADS	106
5.6	$\rm S_{11},\rm S_{22}$ measurements and simulation of a Ti/Nb microstrip on Kapton at 4.2 K.	107
5.7	$\mathrm{S}_{12},\mathrm{S}_{21}$ measurements of a Ti/Nb microstrip on Kapton at 4.2 K	107
5.8	$\rm S_{21}$ measurement comparison of a Ti/Nb and Ti/Cu microstrip on Kapton. $~$.	108
5.9	A 5 cm long Nb microstrip model on Kapton implemented in ADS	109
5.10	S_{11} and S_{22} measurement and simulation of a 5 cm long Nb microstrip on Kapton.	110
5.11	S_{21} and S_{12} measurement and simulation of a 5 cm long Nb microstrip on Kapton.	110
5.12	Representative two wire resistance vs. temperature measurement of the signal (red) and ground (blue) as the Ti/Nb microstrip cools down in the pulse tube based cryostat.	112
5.13	Critical current measurement of a Ti/Nb microstrip with a 46 μ m wide signal line on PI-2611 as a function of temperature.	112
5.14	A 5 cm long Ti/Nb microstrip model on PI-2611 implemented in ADS	113
5.15	Measurement and simulation of S_{11} and S_{22} of a 5 cm long Ti/Nb microstrip on PI-2611 at 4.2 K.	114
5.16	Measurement and simulation of S_{21} and S_{12} of a 5 cm long Ti/Nb microstrip at 4.2 K on PI-2611	115

5.17	A 5 cm long Ti/Cu microstrip model on PI-2611 implemented in ADS	116
5.18	S_{11}, S_{22} measurement of a 5 cm long Ti/Cu microstrip on PI-2611 with simulation fit to S_{11} .	117
5.19	S_{21} , S_{12} measurement of a 5 cm long Ti/Cu microstrip on PI-2611 at 4.2 K with simulation fit to S_{21} .	117
5.20	$\rm S_{21}$ measurement comparison of a Ti/Cu and Ti/Nb microstrip at 4.2 K	118
5.21	A 25 cm long Nb microstrip model on PI-2611 implemented in ADS	119
5.22	S_{11} and S_{22} measurements and simulation of a ~25 cm long Nb microstrip on PI-2611 at 4.2 K	120
5.23	Measurement and simulation of S_{12} and S_{21} of a ~ 25 cm long Nb microstrip on PI-2611 4.2 K.	121
5.24	S_{11} and S_{22} measurement of a Nb/Cu microstrip transmission line measured at 4.2 K	122
5.25	S_{21} and S_{12} measurement of a Nb/Cu microstrip transmission line measured at 4.2 K	122
5.26	S_{11} and S_{22} measurement of a ~15 cm long Nb/Al microstrip transmission line at 4.2 K	123
5.27	S_{21} and S_{12} measurement of a ~15 cm long Nb/Al microstrip transmission line at 4.2 K	123
5.28	A ${\sim}25~{\rm cm}$ long embedded Nb microstrip model on PI-2611 implemented in ADS.	125
5.29	S_{11} and S_{22} measurement and simulation of a ~ 25 cm long embedded Nb microstrip transmission line 4.2 K	126

5.30	S_{21} and S_{12} measurement and simulation of a ${\sim}25~\mathrm{cm}$ long embedded Nb mi-	
	crostrip transmission line 4.2 K	126
5.31	Microscopy images of the excess solder on a ~ 15 cm long Nb microstrip cable (a)	
	as assembled and (b) after excess solder removal	127
5.32	S_{11} and S_{22} measurement of a ~15 cm long Nb microstrip transmission line at	
	4.2 K	128
5.33	S_{21} and S_{12} measurement of a ${\sim}15~\mathrm{cm}$ long Nb microstrip transmission line at	
	4.2 K	128
A.1	DB25 connector with pin 1 labeled for reference. The breakout box uses a total	
	of 16 inputs. Inputs are numbered for clarity.	140
A.2	Microwave switch interface equipment (a) breakout box on the rod (b) relay and	
	power supply (c) breakout box that interfaces with the relay (d) rod with the	
	SMA cables and microwave switches is shown	142

List of Tables

4.1	Relay positions and bit address string for two RF switches	84
1	List of Suppliers	139
2	List of Equipment Used	139
A.1	Pin outs and wiring for two radiall switches	141
B.1	Microstrip Traveler $1/2$	144
B.2	Microstrip Traveler $2/2$	145
B.3	Embedded Microstrip Traveler $1/3$	146
B.4	Embedded Microstrip Traveler $2/2$	147
B.5	Embedded Microstrip Traveler $3/3$	148
B.6	Stripline Traveler $1/4$	149
B.7	Stripline Traveler $2/4$	150
B.8	Stripline Traveler $3/4$	151
B.9	Stripline Traveler 4/4	152

List of Abbreviations

ϵ_r	Dielectric constant							
λ_L	London penetration depth							
ξ	coherence length							
L_k	Kinetic Inductance							
Z_0	Characteristic impedance							
ADS	Keysight Advanced Design Systems							
ALN	Aluminum nitride							
CBCPW Conductor Backed Coplanar Waveguide								
CPW	Coplanar Waveguide							
DC	Direct Current							
DI	Deionized							
DUT	Device Under Test							
EBPVI	D Electron Beam Physical Vapor Deposition							
FEM	Finite Element Model							
HMDS	Hexamethyldisilizane							
IC	Integrated Circuit							
LHe	Liquid Helium							

LN_2	Liquid Nitrogen
М	Molar
M0	Ground plane
M1	Signal metallizaton
M2	Top ground plane
MLIN	Microstrip Line Element
NaCl	Sodium Chloride
NiCr	Nichrome
РТ	Pulse Tube Cryostat
\mathbf{R}_{sh}	Sheet Resistance
RRR	Residual Resistivity Ratio
SOL	Short-Open-Load
SOLR	Short Open Reciprocal Thru
SOLT	Short Open Load Thru
STS AG	DE Advanced Oxide Etcher
T_c	Transition Temperature
TRL	Thru-Reflect-Line
UBM	Under Bump Metallurgy
Via01	First via contact to the ground plane

Via12 Via contact to the underlying signal and ground layer

YBCO Yttrium Barium Copper Oxide

YSZ Yttria-Stabilized Zirconia

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Scientific motivation

There has been a limited amount of research in addressing the need for low-loss, small cross-sectional area microwave flex cables for cryogenic applications. Previously published work has shown the potential of 1/2 oz. (~18 μ m) thick copper conductors on 5 mil (~127 μ m) thick Kapton films for microstrip and stripline microwave flex cables [1, 2]. Bai et al., demonstrated superconducting Nb microstrip resonators on 2 mil (~50 μ m) Kapton with metallization that was only 250 nm thick [3]. Microwave loss measurements of the Kapton dielectric at 1.2 K by [3] suggests that Kapton might be a suitable substrate for superconducting Nb microstrip flex cables.

Current microwave cables used at deep cryogenic temperatures consist of coaxial cables whose signal conductor is comprised of a superconducting metal that exhibits zero DC loss, with no joule heating and minimal attenuation at these temperatures [4]. Superconducting coaxial cables that can be used up to 65 GHz can be readily purchased from vendors, such as Keycom¹ and Coax Corporation². These types of RF cables would be used at a 4 K temperature stage and below where the superconductor is sufficiently below its critical transition temperature. For temperatures above 4 K, there are coax cables whose signal conductor is comprised of a poor electrical conductor, such as stainless steel or copper nickel (CuNi). The poor electrical conductivity limits the thermal conductivity, by the Wiedemann–Franz law, which relates the thermal conductivity to the electrical conductivity by a constant of proportionality, known as the *Lorenz number*, that is dependent on the metal. For multiple

¹ http://www.keycom.co.jp/eproducts/upj/upj6/page.htm

²http://www.coax.co.jp/en/pdf/superconducting_cable.pdf

DC connections, there are wire looms that consist of NbTi that can be used at deep cryogenic temperatures (mK range) [5,6]. For 4 K and above, wire looms and multi-conductor wires of phosphor bronze are also readily available^{3,4}. The purpose of using poor-thermal conductors is to reduce the thermal leakage from the "hot" side to the "cold" side. For RF measurements, making multiple connections requires the use of multiple-coax and/or the use of microwave switches to reduce the number of coax connections that are routed in the refrigerator [7,8].

Consequently, as the complexity of the devices tested at cryogenic temperatures increases, the physical volume constraints of the refrigerator may impose limitations. Therefore, in this work, we attempt to leverage Integrated Circuit (IC) thin-film processes to build superconducting microstrip flex cables that at most have a dielectric thickness of 50 μ m with a conductor metallization thickness of 250 nm. In one flex cable, we can include multiple controlled impedance microstrip that can be interfaced with commercial end launch connectors. Therefore, we can reduce the cross-sectional area of the flex cables by using thin-film dielectrics, have significantly more connections per cable than a single coax and by using superconducting metals, we decrease the microwave loss.

This work is focused on the simulation, fabrication, and measurement of thin-film superconducting Nb microstrip cables designed to be interface with edge launch connectors. Microstrip and embedded microstrip are demonstrated, with discussion of alternative transmission line flex cables that were attempted early in this project.

1.2 Superconducting materials selection

There are several elemental superconductors that range in transition temperature (T_c) from 9.3 K for Nb to Rh with a T_c of 0.325 mK. A graphical view of the table of elements with the superconductors highlighted in either green (superconducting under high pressure) or blue (superconducting at ambient pressure) is shown in Figure 1.1. The only pure metals

³http://www.cryoconnect.com/markets/science/

⁴http://www.lakeshore.com/products/cryogenic-accessories/wire/pages/overview.aspx

that do not exhibit superconducting properties are copper, gold, and silver. The criteria for selecting the superconducting metallization for this work was based on the T_c and the deposition method. From Figure 1.1, materials such as lead, indium, aluminum and niobium were suitable material choices; these metals can be deposited by either sputter deposition or electron beam physical vapor deposition (EBPVD). Lead has a T_c of 7.2 K and can be sputter deposited, but is toxic and an environmental hazard. Indium can be either deposited by sputter or by EBPVD methods, but has a transition temperature of ~3.4 K and a melting temperature of 160 °C, which is not compatible with the cure temperature (225 °C and above) of the spin-on dielectrics we used in this work. Aluminum has a T_c of 1.2 K and can be deposited by EBPVD or by sputter deposition, but has a significantly lower T_c than Nb. In addition, measuring the superconducting properties of Al would be difficult in our pulse-tube based cryostat with the lowest operating temperature achievable is ~1.3 K, which cannot be continuously maintained.

Nb has a bulk T_c of 9.3 K [9] and can be sputtered deposited with a controlled film morphology [10, 11]. The relationship between the room temperature sheet resistance (R_{sh}) and T_c are well correlated. Typically, a low sheet resistance yields a T_c closer to bulk [10]. From Figure 1.2, we can see the trend towards a higher T_c , as the sheet resistance of the Nb film on SiO₂ decreases. Moreover, the deposition parameters are important, in order to limit oxygen diffusion through the Nb film [10]. Therefore the deposition conditions for Nb need to be optimized to produce high quality (low R_{sh} and high T_c) films. It is also possible to use EBPVD method to deposit Nb [12], but this method was not attempted in this work. We chose to DC sputter Nb films, as it led to consistent film quality.

1.3 Microwave properties of superconductors

The microwave properties of superconductors can be described by a two-fluid phenomenological model [14]. We assume that in the superconductor there are two types of fluids, normal electrons (quasi-particles) and superconducting electrons (Cooper pairs). The

	IA																	0
1	1 H	IIA	Kľ	JOY	WN F	SUI LE	PEF ME	rcc NT)NI S	DUC	CTI	VE	IIIA	IVA	٧A	VIA	VIIA	2 He
2	3 Li	4 Be		BLUE = AT AMBIENT PRESSURE BC											7 N	8 0	9 F	10 Ne
3	11 Na	12 Mg	ШВ	IVB	EN = VB	UNE1 VIB	r UNL VIIB	<u>екн</u>	іанн — УІІ-	'HES: 	IB	IIВ	13 Al	14 Si	15 P	16 S	17 CI	18 Ar
4	19 K	20 Ca	21 Sc	22 Ti	23 Y	24 Cr	25 Mn	26 Fe	27 Co	28 Ni	29 Cu	30 Zn	31 Ga	32 Ge	33 As	34 Se	35 Br	36 Kr
5	37 Rb	38 Sr	39 Y	40 Zr	41 Nb	42 M O	43 Tc	44 Ru	45 Rh	46 Pd	47 Ag	48 Cd	49 In	50 Sn	51 Sb	52 Te	53 	54 Xe
6	55 Cs	56 Ba	57 *La	72 Hf	73 Ta	74 ₩	75 Re	76 Os	77 Ir	78 Pt	79 Au	80 Hg	81 TI	82 Pb	83 Bi	84 Po	85 At	86 Rn
7	87 Fr	88 Ra	89 +Ac	104 Rf	105 Ha	106 106	107 5 107	108 108	109 109	110 1110	111 1 111	112 112	s	UPER	RCON	רסעמ	TORS	.ORG
													_					
*Lanthanide Series			ide	58 Ce	59 Pr	60 Nd	61 Pm	62 Sm	63 Eu	64 Gd	65 Tb	66 Dy	67 Ho	68 Er	69 Tm	70 Yb	71 Lu	
+ Actinide Series				90 Th	91 Pa	92 U	93 Np	94 Pu	95 Am	96 Cm	97 Bk	98 Cf	99 Es	100 Fm	101 Md	102 No	103 Lr	

Figure 1.1: Periodic table of elements with known superconductors at ambient pressure and under high pressure highlighted in blue and green, respectively. Adapted from [13].



Figure 1.2: Relationship between sheet resistance and transition temperature for sputter deposited Nb films on SiO_2 . Adapted from [10].

normal electrons travel in the lattice, as they do in any normal metal (i.e. experience scattering), when an electric field is applied, the quasi-particles lose some energy due to scattering, which is measured as an electrical resistance. The normal electrons also have a mass, therefore when an alternating field is applied, there is a time delay for the electrons to react, which is represented as an inductance. This inductance is significant when the frequency of the oscillations is significantly higher than the scattering rate, otherwise this phenomenon is not observed.

Superconducting electrons (Cooper pairs) do not experience scattering, they travel through the lattice by a phonon-electron interaction and therefore exhibit zero resistance [15]. Superconducting electrons also have a mass and therefore also exhibit an inductance. Both the quasi-particles and Cooper pairs can be thought of as fluids in a superconductor, which interact by screening the applied field.

To describe these fluids and their interaction to an applied field, we consider their number density. The density of normal (N_n) and superconducting electrons (N_s) is constant in the metal (conservation of mass and charge). Therefore, the total density of electrons is defined as $N = N_s + N_n$; when the temperature is decreased, the density of superconducting electrons increases and consequently the density of quasi-particles decreases. The temperature dependence is described to have a power dependence: $N_n/N = t^4$, where $t = T/T_c$ is the normalized temperature [14]. The temperature dependence is shown in Figure 1.3. For example, Nb with a bulk T_c of 9.3 K, when measured at a temperature of 4.2 K, we calculate the normalized temperature ratio to be $(0.45)^4$ or ~ 0.041 . Therefore, approximately 4 % of the electrons would be normal, while 96 % would be superconducting electrons. At DC, superconductors exhibit zero resistance, this is because the superconducting electrons short the sample, although the normal electrons are present [14]. At higher frequencies, the superconducting electrons lag in response to alternating field and therefore do not completely short the circuit, consequently some of the normal electrons will carry the current with an increase loss. The circuit model that depicts this phenomenon is shown in Figure 1.4.



Figure 1.3: Temperature dependence of the normal electrons (N_n) and superconducting electrons (N_s) . Adapted from [16].



Figure 1.4: Two-fluid circuit model for a superconductor. N_s is the number density of superconducting electrons and N_n is the number density of the normal electrons. Adapted from [14].

We define a complex conductivity of the superconductor as a function of current carried by the normal electrons and the superconducting electrons. By using ohm's law $J=\sigma E$ and assuming a local relationship with an applied time dependent electric field, $E = E_0 e^{i\omega t}$ we can solve for Equations 1.1 and 1.2 to obtain the relationship shown in Equation 1.3 [14]. In these equations, m is the mass of an electron, e is the charge of a single electron, τ is the scattering time for the normal electrons, and ω is angular frequency [14].

$$m\frac{dj_n}{dt} + \frac{m}{\tau}j_n = N_n e^2 E, \quad j_n = N_n e v_n \tag{1.1}$$

$$m\frac{dj_s}{dt} + N_s \omega^2 E, \quad j_s = N_s e v_s \tag{1.2}$$

$$j_0 = j_{n0} + j_{s0} = \sigma E_0 = [\sigma_1 - i\sigma_2]E_0$$
(1.3)

$$\sigma_1 = N_n e^2 \tau / m, \quad \sigma_2 = \frac{e^2}{m\omega} [N_s + N_n \omega \tau]$$
(1.4)

Equations 1.3 and 1.4 essentially state that the conductivity is comprised of normalstate (σ_1) conductivity and a mix of normal and superconducting conductivity (σ_2), in both cases, τ is the scattering time of the normal electrons. At low temperatures, sufficiently far away from T_c, σ_2 dominates and the normal-state (N_n) electron density can be assumed to be zero. Therefore Equation 1.4, can be re-written as the expression shown in Equation 1.5

$$\sigma_2 = \frac{e^2}{m\omega} N_s \tag{1.5}$$

Two material properties that define the quality of the superconductor are the coherence length denoted as ξ and the London penetration depth (λ_L). The coherence length can be thought of as the extent of the superconducting electrons (Cooper pairs) [14], while the London penetration depth is related to the depth a magnetic field can penetrate into a superconductor [17]. For high-quality Nb, the London penetration depth has been measured to be approximately 39 nm [18]. The mean free path can be determined through the relationship shown in Equation 1.6, where l is the mean-free path. The mean-free path l of the superconductor can be estimated by measuring the grain-size of the deposited film [19]. In an ideal superconductor, ξ would be equal to ξ_0 ($l = \infty$), this would imply a perfect superconductor. For a thin-film, that is sputter deposited, with the condition that the penetration depth (λ_L) is greater than the mean-free path (l), we have a local J= σ E relationship. This implies that the superconductor has a uniform current distribution throughout. We can then define the impedance of the film as described in Equation 1.7.

$$\frac{1}{\xi} \simeq \frac{1}{\xi_0} + \frac{1}{l} \tag{1.6}$$

$$Z = R + iX \tag{1.7}$$

The real (R) and reactive (X) components are related to the conductivity, σ_1 and σ_2 by the relationships shown in Equation 1.8. *b* is defined as the cross-sectional area of the film.

$$R = \frac{\sigma_1}{b(\sigma_1^2 + \sigma_2^2)} \quad X = \frac{\sigma_2}{b(\sigma_1^2 + \sigma_2^2)}$$
(1.8)

Equation 1.8 implies a few things that are worth noting. Primarily, if the temperature is low enough ($T \ll T_c$), the real term, $R \sim is 0$ and Z = iX. Which implies that the impedance is purely due to the superconducting electrons responding to the applied field. Explicitly, the reactive term can be defined as shown in Equation 1.9. We then define the kinetic inductance as shown in Equation 1.10. L_k is dependent on the density of superconducting electrons, the number density, the cross-sectional area, electron charge and mass.

$$X = \frac{1}{b\sigma_2} \quad X = \left(\frac{m}{e^2 N_s}\right) \left(\frac{1}{b}\right) \omega \tag{1.9}$$

$$L_k = \frac{m}{e^2 N_s} \frac{1}{b} \tag{1.10}$$

The reactive term is referred to as a kinetic inductance (L_k) . In the case that that the temperature is not far away from T_c , the superconductor will have a small but nonnegligible resistance due to the quasi-particles (normal electrons) which is known as BCS resistance [20].

1.3.1 Kinetic inductance

Kinetic inductance is related to the motion of charge-carriers in a metal. The kinetic inductance is a property of all metals. In normal metals, the mean scattering time τ , is in the order of 10^{-14} seconds [21], which implies that the applied signal should be greater than $f=\frac{1}{\tau}$, which would require a signal to be changing in the THz frequency range, these collisions dominate the loss mechanism, and therefore the kinetic inductance is not observed. In superconductors, τ is infinity for the Cooper pairs (no collisions), and the kinetic inductance plays an important role in the microwave performance. For example, in a microstrip structure, such as the one shown in Figure 1.5a, the kinetic inductance is included as an additional series element in a circuit element model. In Figure 1.5b, a representative simplified circuit model of a microstrip is shown, we note that L_k is the kinetic inductance and L_m is the magnetic inductance. Therefore the total inductance in the microstrip structure is $L_k + L_m$. We can think of the kinetic inductance and magnetic inductance as two forms of stored energy. This relationship is shown in Equation 1.11 [22].

A diagram of a superconducting film is shown in Figure 1.6 that is used to derive the relationship between magnetic and kinetic energy of the charge carrier motion. The relationship shown in Equation 1.11 states that the total energy of a structure is the sum of the magnetic energy and the charge carrier motion over the volume of the conductor.



Figure 1.5: (a) Cross-sectional image of a microstrip (b) equivalent circuit model with the kinetic inductance (L_k) included as a series element. Adapted from [23].

Equation 1.11 reduces to Equation 1.12, after integration [22]. In this equation, l is the length, A is the cross-sectional area, e is electronic charge, and I is the current. This relationship describes the contribution of the Cooper pairs to the kinetic inductance.

$$E = \int_{all \ space} \frac{1}{2} \mu H^2 d\tau + \int_{conductor} \frac{1}{2} m v^2 N_s d\tau \tag{1.11}$$

$$E = \frac{1}{2}L_M I^2 + \frac{1}{2}[(m/N_s e^2) \cdot (l/A)]I^2$$
(1.12)

The kinetic inductance L_k is related to London penetration depth by the relationship shown in Equation 1.13. The *l* term is the length and *a* and *b* are the half-width and half-height, λ is the magnetic penetration depth [22].

$$L_k = (\mu_0 l\lambda/4a)[2/\pi^2)ln(4a/b)] \quad b \gg \lambda \tag{1.13}$$

1.4 Flexible cables

The focus of this section is to review the previous work undertaken by other research groups in the area of cryogenic flexible cables. Although commercial flex cables with copper



Figure 1.6: Cross-sectional diagram of a rectangular superconducting film. J is the surface current and λ is the London penetration depth. a and b are the half width and height, respectively. Adapted from [22].

metallization for the signal and ground is common, very limited work has been undertaken in using superconducting metallization on flexible substrates.

In the work by van Weers et al., embedded Nb DC flexible cables were fabricated on Pyralin PI-2611 that had a dielectric thickness of 19 μ m and a length of 130 mm, with 10 DC traces that were comprised of superconducting Nb encapsulated in Pyralin PI-2611 [24]. These flex cables were fabricated on a temporary glass carrier that was removed at the end of the fabrication process. A cross-sectional diagram of the flex cable is shown in Figure 1.7a.

The DC lines ranged in line widths from 15 to 25 μ m that were lithographically defined on a 12 μ m thick PI-2611 layer and sputtered with a 15-20 nm thick Ti layer for adhesion, followed by DC sputtering of Nb that was 250 nm thick. These traces were protected by a second Pyralin coating that was 7 μ m thick. Contact holes were dry etched in the pyralin to make contact to the Nb and an under bump metallurgy (UBM) consisting of Ti/Cu/Ni/Au was deposited onto the exposed Nb signal traces. Following the deposition of the UBM layer, a solder paste (Ecorel easy 803s) was applied locally with a syringe. The flex was then



Figure 1.7: (a) Cross-section of a Nb DC flex cable (b) top-view of the Nb flex cable mounted onto a PCB. Adapted from [24].

aligned and clamped to a printed circuit board (PCB) and the assembly was reflowed. The Nb flex cable after assembly onto a PCB is shown in Figure 1.7b.

DC measurement of the T_c for a 25 μ m wide line is shown in Figure 1.8. The two distinctive drops in resistance at ~9 and 7.8 K are representative of the Nb and SnPb solder transitioning to the superconducting state. Measurements of critical current of these lines indicated a current range between 7 mA to over 60 mA, based on the different line widths that were measured [24].

This same group also studied a Nb flex cable that was fabricated in-situ with a silicon detector chip, as shown in Figure 1.9. This flex cable consisted of Nb traces that were embedded in polyimide with UBM that was compatible with the transition edge sensor array [25]. The Nb traces varied in line widths, from 14 to 10 μ m and were embedded in polyimide that was cured at 350°C. A thin Ta layer that was 10 nm thick coated the Nb traces to prevent oxidation and in some locations a 400 nm thick SiO₂ was also used on top of the Ta to protect the Nb from the handling stresses and the high temperature cure of the polyimide. A cross-sectional schematic of the flex cable is shown in Figure 1.9a. The flex was attached onto two different Si substrates that had traces that matched the profile of the flex cable. Figure 1.9b is a top-view of the flex attached to the LC and detector chip. We



Figure 1.8: Resistance vs. temperature measurement of a DC flex cable with a Ti/Nb/Ti signal trace with a line width of 25 μ m. Adapted from [24].



Figure 1.9: (a) Schematic cross-section of a Nb DC flex cable attached to a LC filter and detector (b) LC filter attached to the flex cable by a bump array. Adapted from [25].

note in this work that their smaller line widths had a lower transition temperature of ~ 7 K compared to the 14 μ m track width that had a T_c of ~ 7.5 K. Correspondingly, the 10 μ m wide line had a lower residual resistivity ratio (RRR) of 3.6, meanwhile for the 14 μ m wide line, the RRR was determined to be 5.6. The measurement results of these two traces is shown in Figure 1.10. The authors' noted that for smaller line widths, the Nb traces did not fully transition. At present, the experimental reason the superconductivity was suppressed in the Nb is currently not well understood.

In the work by Yung et al., they fabricated MgB₂ flex cables on flexible Yttria-stabilized zirconia (YSZ) substrates with 33 DC signal traces per cable [26]. The flex cable was 50 μ m thick and 10 cm long. Connections were made to flex cable through a PCB and flat flexible connector (FFC) interface. The flex cable assembly is shown in Figure 1.11. The DC critical current of this flex cable was measured through the FFC/PCB interface. The critical current density at 30 K was measured to be 10^5 A/cm². Measurements of the critical current, as a


Figure 1.10: Resistance vs. temperature measurement of 12 μ m (shown in blue) and 14 μ m (shown in red) wide Nb traces embedded in polyimide. Adapted from [25].

function of temperature are shown in Figure 1.12b on two different substrate materials. The resistance vs. temperature measurements were taken on a 1 cm \times 1 cm witness samples, the measurement results are shown in Figure 1.12a. From Figure 1.12a, we note the T_c was approximately 37 K, which is particularly high compared to pure elemental superconductors (e.g. Nb with a T_c of 9.3 K).



Figure 1.11: MgB₂ flex cable with 350 μ m wide traces interfaced to a PCB through an FFC. Adapted from [26].



Figure 1.12: (a) Resistance vs. temperature measurement of a MgB₂ trace on sapphire and on a YSZ flexible substrate (b) critical current measurement as a function of temperature of MgB₂ on sapphire for a 2 μ m wide trace and measurement through the flex of a 350 μ m wide trace, interfaced with an FFC connector. Adapted from [26].

Although the MgB₂ flexible cable exhibited notable electrical properties, the authors highlighted a few problems related to the reliability of these cables. For example, the MgB₂ delaminated from the substrate when exposed to water at 20 °C (room temperature). Therefore, two different types of passivisation materials were studied, Parylene-C and aluminum oxide (Al₂O₃). Parylene was deposited by vapor-phase to a thickness of ~500 nm, while the Al₂O₃ was deposited by atomic layer deposition (ALD) to a thickness of 10 nm. These two coatings prevented the MgB₂ from delaminating from the substrate in a period of 24 hours when exposed to DI water. If the water was heated to 90 °C, the films began to degrade in less than an hour [26].

Webber et al., fabricated DC flex cables based on a high temperature superconducting metal consisting of Yttrium barium copper oxide (YBCO) on a flexible haste alloy tape [27]. Haste alloy is a conductive material and therefore this group isolated the YBCO traces from the underlying substrate by depositing an insulating MgO layer, prior to the deposition of the YBCO traces. These flex cables were 100 mm long and 50 μ m thick with a YBCO thickness of 1 μ m and protected from the environment by coating of Teflon film. The author's note



Figure 1.13: (a) YBCO flex cable connected to a *Min-E-con* DC adapter and (b) flex cable mounted onto a cryocooler. Adapted from [27].

that Teflon coating was necessary to prevent moisture from degrading the YBCO film. Each cable consisted of 22 lines with a maximum critical current of 200 mA. These flex cables were interfaced with a *Min-E con* connector via a Cerrobend mixed alloy to 3 μ m thick silver pads. The Cerrobend metal alloy was important because it has a melting temperature of 70 °C, which prevented the scavenging of silver from the contact pads [27]. A stand alone YBCO flex cable is shown in Figure 1.13a. The flex cable was mounted onto a cryocooler for testing is shown in Figure 1.13b. The critical currents were measured in liquid nitrogen (LN₂) which showed critical currents as high as 3.0 A on line width of 300 μ m. Critical current measurements at LN₂ temperatures as a function of line width are shown in Figure 1.14.

An Al DC superconducting flex cable for interfacing to a transition edge sensor focal plane array was fabricated by Pappas for the Atacama Cosmology Telescope (ACTPol) [28]. The aluminum traces and wire bonds were measured to transition at 1.2 K \pm 0.1 K [28]. The critical current was measured to be 5.7 mA at 1.0 K. In this particular flex cable, they integrated the DC lines in PI-2611 polyimide from HD microsystems. This flex cable had a Si underside beneath the wire bond regions in order to improve the wire bond strength. A cross-section of the flex cable with Si underside support is shown in Figure 1.16.



Figure 1.14: Critical current measurements of a YBCO flex cable as a function of line width. Adapted from [27].



Figure 1.15: (a) High-density superconducting Al flex cable for ATCPol (b) close-up view of the wire bonds attached onto the flex cable and to the support substrate. Adapted from [28].

For RF applications at cryogenic temperatures there has been some progress in integrating multiple signal conductors on thin Kapton films, similar to DC ribbon cables that can be commercially found. A non-superconducting RF flex cable for cryogenic applications was studied by Harris et al., which consisted of a set of microstrip transmission lines on Kapton that used 1/2 Oz.(~18 μ m) thick copper as the signal and ground metallization on 5 mil (~127 μ m) Kapton AP-855R [1]. The flex cable was 1.5 inch (3.81 cm) by 4.1 inch (10.4 cm) long. SMA connectors were directly soldered onto the Kapton flex, due to the thickness of the film, no additional support was needed under the SMA connector to make

Bond Pads			
Silicon	AI2O3	Aluminum	Polyimide

Figure 1.16: Cross-section diagram of Al traces embedded in polyimide with a Si support substrate. Adapted from [29].



Figure 1.17: (a) Microstrip on Kapton Dupont Pyralux AP-855R with 8 signal traces (b) S_{21} measurement comparison of the flex cable with a solid ground plane (solid line) and patterned ground plane (dashed line). Adapted from [1].

contact. In Figure 1.17a, the Kapton microstrip with 8 signal lines is shown with a slight bend to highlight the solid and patterned ground plane. The patterned ground plane was studied to reduce the thermal heat leakage, which showed slight degradation in performance at the higher frequencies. The microwave performance of this Cu based microstrip flex is shown in Figure 1.17b. The coupling between adjacent signal lines indicates more coupling occurs when the ground plane is patterned when compared to a solid ground plane. These measurements were performed at room temperature.



Figure 1.18: (a) Stripline flex cables interfaced with G3PO connectors (b) close-up of the G3PO connectors interfaced to flex signal line and ground. Adapted from [2].

In the work by McGarey et al., they fabricated and measured Cu stripline flex cables for use in a focal plane array [2]. This flex cable had 16 signal lines that were interfaced with G3PO connectors. The flex cables are shown in Figure 1.18a with a close-up view of the underside with the close-up of the backside of the flex shown in Figure 1.18b. The substrate material was Dupont Kapton Pyralux AP with a thickness of 4 mil (~102 μ m) with 1/2 oz. Cu (~18 μ m). To provide mechanical support to the G3PO connectors, they sandwiched a 20 mil (~508 μ m) thick FR4 board between the flex cable and the connector. The microwave performance of the flex cable is shown in Figure 1.19. Transmission shows about -10 dB at 8 GHz and a match that stays below -10 dB up to 10 GHz. The stripline Cu flex cable was also measured at room temperature.

In summary, significant strides have been made in the fabrication and measurement of superconducting and normal-metal flex cables. Many groups have focused on the fabrication of superconducting DC flex cables with multiple conductors on a single ribbon. Some work in addressing the need for multi-conductor cryogenic microwave flex cables has been undertaken by [1] and [2] using Cu-based conductors. The work reviewed demonstrates the potential of flexible DC and microwave interconnects for cryogenic-based systems.



Figure 1.19: Microwave measurements at room temperature of a 16 channel flex cable interfaced with G3PO connectors. Adapted from [2].

1.5 Outline of this dissertation

In this dissertation, we discuss the several microwave flex cable technologies that were attempted and measurement results for the microstrip flex cables that were successfully fabricated. The goal of this dissertation is to provide a foundation for future work in the area of superconducting microwave flex cables. This dissertation is organized as follows:

- The design details such as the dielectric types, thicknesses, and signal line widths for the different dielectrics and transmission lines (coplanar waveguide, stripline, and microstrip) are discussed in Chapter 2.
- The fabrication processes for the various flex cables, which include dielectric spin-on and metal deposition parameters is presented in Chapter 3.
- A description of the measurement equipment and LabVIEW software that was written to automate DC and RF measurements is presented in Chapter 4. We also present the calibration process that was required to correct for measurement errors. We discuss the

calibration standards that were assembled and used to perform a Short-Open-Load-Reciprocal-Thru (SOLR) calibration in liquid Helium (4.2 K).

- Measurement and simulation results for the fabricated microstrip flex cables on Kapton and spin-on polyimide is presented in Chapter 5.
- Concluding remarks and discussion of next-steps for this work is presented in Chapters 6 and 7.

Chapter 2

Design and Layout of Flex Cables

In this chapter we discuss the design, layout, and simulation results of the various RF flex cables and interface methods that were attempted in this work. We studied two types of spin-on dielectrics, AL-X [30] and PI-2611 [31], which are commonly used as interlayer dielectrics. Kapton which is a form of polyimide that can be purchased as a free-standing film was also used. The physical length of these flex cables ranged from several millimeters to up to one meter. We modeled coplanar waveguide, microstrip, and stripline flex cables with Keysight's advanced design software (ADS)¹.

In the work by Tighe et al., they demonstrated stripline Cu flex cables flip chip attached to break out boards [32]; we attempted to use the same attachment method on AlN substrates for some of the flex cables we fabricated. Due to constraints in the size of the Dewar opening and sample holder, our substrate size was limited to ~ 25 mm in width and ~ 18 mm in length. We designed short (~ 4 mm in length) Nb-based conductor backed coplanar waveguide (CBCPW) structures on both ends of an AlN substrate. At the ends of each trace, there was metallization deposited that was compatible with indium soldering. These pads served as attachment points for the flex cables. The CPW traces on the edges of AlN would be soldered with GPPO connectors at each end. The assembled parts would then be attached to a copper holder.

The initial flex cables used for flip-chip attachment were AL-X and Kapton samples. These flex cables were ~ 11 mm in length and due to the fabrication and assembly challenges, we did not pursue this assembly method much further. Although, we discuss the RF performance and design of these methods as background to what eventually was established. We

¹Advanced Design Systems 2015.01

therefore sought an alternative assembly method to make reliable RF connections to the flex cables without the need for flip-chip bonding. A 3D model depicting the holder with GPPO connectors is shown in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1: A 3D model of the copper holder and the GPPO connectors that would be used to interface to the AlN substrate.

Based on commercially available edge-launch connectors, we determined Southwest Microwave SMA connectors² were the most suitable. The edge launch connector has an adjustable grounding plate and a signal pin diameter of only 0.005 inch, which facilitated soldering directly onto our thin flex cables. After working with these connectors, we decided that longer flex cables would allow us to obtain more meaningful measurements. We therefore decided to move towards flex cables with lengths of 5 cm and greater.

The next iteration of flex cables consisted of microstrip and stripline transmission lines that used edge launch connectors. We designed 5 cm and up to one meter microstrip transmission lines on a PI-2611 dielectric. The stripline fabrication process was undertaken on PI-2611, but was inherently more complex, which did not yield fully functional flex cables. We present the layout for a 5 cm and one meter long stripline stripline flex cables for reference. On Kapton, we moved away from the CBCPW structures and focused on microstrip transmission lines only.

²Connector information: http://mpd.southwestmicrowave.com/products/endLaunch.php



Figure 2.2: ADS layout of CBCPW transmission lines on AlN for flip-chip bonding flex cables.



Figure 2.3: Simulation model for one end of a 5 mm long CBCPW on AlN.



Figure 2.4: (a) S_{11} and (b) S_{21} simulations of a 5 mm long CBCPW on an AlN substrate.

2.1 AlN flip-chip board

Aluminum nitride $(AIN)^3$ substrates were used as the host board for flip-chip attachment of flex cables. The AlN was designed to have up to six GPPO connectors soldered at each end of the substrate, therefore three flex cables could be measured during one temperature cool-down cycle. We designed a Conductor Backed Coplanar Waveguide (CBCPW) on a 640 μm thick AlN substrate with a signal line width of 560 μm and a gap between the signal and ground of 441 μ m. In Figure 2.2, the CBCPW design for the AlN substrate is shown. The design included a straight CBCPW, a meandered version, and short CBCPW structures for flip-chip bonding. The straight and meandered CBCPW designs were included to measure the T_c of the sputtered deposited Nb on the AlN substrate. The UBM is shown as pads on the signal and ground traces on the topside metallization, which were used for soldering connectors and flip-chip attachment. The simulation setup for the short CBCPW used for flip-chip bonding is shown in Figure 2.3. The RF performance of these short CPW structures is shown in Figure 2.4. Our simulations indicate a return loss (S_{11}) below -40 dB and an insertion loss (S_{21}) less than -0.02 dB from 10 MHz to 14 GHz. In the proceeding section, we introduce the design parameters for the AL-X and Kapton CPW and CBCPW flex cable designs that utilized this substrate.

³AlN from Stellar Industries



Figure 2.5: ADS layout of a CBCPW design for a 50 μ m thick AL-X cable. The layout was designed to fit on a 100 mm diameter Si wafer.

2.2 AL-X flex cables

AL-X is a spin-on photoimageable dielectric that is commonly used as a packaging material [33,34]. We studied this dielectric as a possible substrate material for the fabrication of RF flex cables. We designed CBCPW flex cables based on the dielectric constant of 2.6 [30].

2.2.1 CBCPW

CBCPW transmission lines were designed on AL-X for a dielectric thickness of 50 μ m. Two CBCPW structures were developed, a straight signal line design that was 11.2 mm in length and a meandered CBCPW with a total length of 42.7 mm. The gap between the signal and ground trace was 641 μ m in both of these designs. The CBCPW designs included UBM pads for flip-chip bonding onto an AlN substrate. The layout of this design was for a 100 mm diameter Si wafer and is shown in Figure 2.5. The simulation model and RF performance are shown in Figure 2.6 and Figure 2.7. S_{11} simulation results show a return loss (S_{11}) below -60 dB up to 14 GHz and with an insertion loss (S_{21}) less than -0.01 dB.



Figure 2.6: Simulation model for a 1.2 mm long CBCPW on AL-X.



Figure 2.7: (a) S_{11} and (b) S_{21} simulations of a CBCPW on AL-X.

2.3 Kapton flex cables

E-series Kapton films were used in this work were 2 mils (50.8 μ m) thick. We designed CBCPW, CPW, and microstrip transmission lines. The CPW and CBCPW designs were based on a dielectric constant of 3.4 [35]. The next iteration of designs, consisted of microstrip transmission lines. Based on the work by Bai et al., the dielectric constant of Kapton was measured as 3.2 at cryogenic temperatures in the 2-10 GHz frequency range [3]. This measured dielectric constant was then used for the design of the 5 cm and longer microstrip transmission lines.



Figure 2.8: (a) ADS layout of a CBCPW for a $\sim 50 \ \mu m$ thick Kapton film with a signal line width of 121 μm and 11.2 mm in length (b) meander version of a CBCPW with a direct length of 42.6 mm.

2.3.1 CBCPW

CBCPW structures on free-standing Kapton were studied as possible transmission lines for the fabrication of flex cables. The signal line was 121 μ m wide and 11.2 mm long for the straight CBCPW and 42.6 mm long for the meandered version. Both types of CBCPW designs are shown in Figure 2.8. The simulation model is shown in Figure 2.9. The RF performance of these flex cable is shown in Figure 2.10. The simulation indicateds a return loss (S_{11}) below -20 dB up to 14 GHz and an insertion loss (S_{21}) of less than -0.02 dB.



Figure 2.9: Simulation model for a 11.2 mm long CBCPW on Kapton.

2.3.2 CPW

A CPW design on Kapton without a backside ground plane was also studied as an alternative to CBCPW flex cables. This design reduced the number of processing steps. The CPW was designed with a signal line width of 1070 μ m and length of 11.2 mm for the straight signal and 43.35 mm for the meandered signal version. The gap for both the CPW transmission lines was 40 μ m. The layout of the two CPW designs is shown in Figure 2.11. The simulation model and RF performance is shown in Figures 2.12 and 2.13. The return loss (S₁₁) was less -30 dB with an insertion loss (S₂₁) below -0.01 dB up to 14 GHz.

2.3.3 Microstrip

Microstrip transmission lines were studied as an alternative to CPW and CBCPW flex cables. We designed a 5 cm long microstrip transmission lines with a line width of 120 μ m. The mask design for a 100 mm wide Kapton film is shown in Figure 2.14. We used the mathematical relationship discussed by Pozar for a microstrip based on a thickness of 2 mils (50.8 μ m) and dielectric constant of 3.2 to design these transmission lines [36]. The relationships between dielectric constant and line width are shown in Equations 2.1-2.2.



Figure 2.10: ADS simulation of (a) S_{11} and (b) S_{21} of a CBCPW on Kapton.

а	CPW on 50um Kapton		CPW meander b	50um Kapton
				2 mm
		2 mm	Ľ	

Figure 2.11: ADS layout of (a) a straight CPW on Kapton with a signal line width of 1070 μ m and gap of 40 μ m (b) a meandered version with a direct length of 43.6 mm.



Figure 2.12: Simulation model for a 11.22 mm long CPW on Kapton.

$$W = \frac{2d}{\pi} [B - 1 - \ln(2B - 1) + \frac{\epsilon_r - 1}{2\epsilon_r} \{ \ln(B - 1) + 0.39 - \frac{0.61}{\epsilon_r} \}$$
(2.1)

where B is defined as,

$$B = \frac{377\pi}{2Z_0\sqrt{\epsilon_r}} \tag{2.2}$$

We determined the line width to be 124 μ m and was adjusted to 120 μ m after simulation. The results of the simulation are shown in Figure 2.15. The results indicate a slight improvement in match with a width change, but can conclude that the microstrip was not sensitive to the line width.



Figure 2.13: ADS simulation of (a) S_{11} and (b) S_{21} of a CPW on Kapton.

	IN AL 1989, TAPAL		N 11 (M 11 (M	_
	a na maj spra	to the safe	1 - 16 C N	
	W = No. Only			
	G as Bin Cylin	a cranaci		
	The set Thing have an			
				_
	0 M 100, 93/M	10 - 10 March 10	1 A A A	_
	W M PR. CAW			
Microstrip on Kauton	for su Many Confese			
Second and the ended of the	the up that they we			
Automa Helinese (du				
Adouth University	B 11 200, 5000	10 - 10 AV		- Auburn Chiversity
AL 10-10-0	T of 1 , 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1,			AL 0. TAL 10. AL 10.0
	Q = No. Coch	and the second		
	W as Bin, Cal a	a constant.		- 📕 🚣 🖀 📕
• 🖉				- • 🕅
	10 AL 100 (100 A		1 - 10 - 1 N	
	W to May Series			
	to so thing from its	11.2.20		_
	a at 266, marts	e	S. 1996 - N.	
	O al any, cyclu	in the party		
	W = No. Oxfo	a chanator	1. Sec. 16.	
	to us the topic	111200		
	The and Despired as			
	0 at 200,000	the strept		_

Figure 2.14: ADS layout of a microstrip designed for a $\sim 50 \ \mu m$ thick Kapton substrate.

2.4 PI-2611 polyimide flex cables

HD MicroSystems PI-2611 is a spin-on dielectric that was used to fabricate transmission lines on a 100 and 125 mm diameter Si wafers. PI-2611 polyimide has been commonly used in IC packaging [37,38] as an interlayer dielectric. The dielectric properties of PI-2611 have also been measured at cryogenic temperatures as having a dielectric constant of 3.2 and a loss tangent as low as 8.21E-5 at 1.2 K [39].

2.4.1 A 5 cm long microstrip

The mask design for a 5 cm long microstrip on PI-2611 is shown in Figure 2.16. This design included transmission lines and resonators; the transmission lines were used to measure the T_c , I_c , as well as the RF properties of the microstrip lines. The resonators were used in a separate work to measure the dielectric properties of the PI-2611 at cryogenic temperatures. The microstrip had a line width of 46 μ m with solder pads at each end that were 120 μ m wide by 1200 μ m long. These solder pad dimensions were designed for the Southwest Microwave edge launch connectors.



Figure 2.15: S_{11} simulation for a line width of 124 μ m and after adjustment to a line width of 120 μ m, after simulation.

In Figure 2.17, we demonstrate through simulation the impact the solder pads have on the RF performance of the transmission line. As we decreased the pad length from 1200 μ m to 720 μ m, we noticeably obtained a 5 dB improvement in match (S₁₁). A future redesign would involve reducing the pad length to reduce the impedance mismatch introduced by the pads.



Figure 2.16: ADS layout for 5 cm long microstrip lines and resonators on PI-2611 with varying line widths. The solid square on the left of the design is a process monitoring area used for measuring the sheet resistance of the sputter deposited Nb.



Figure 2.17: S_{11} simulations of a 5 cm long microstrip with varying solder pad lengths on PI-2611.

2.4.2 A 1 meter long microstrip

A meter long microstrip on 10 μ m thick PI-2611 with a line width of ~26 μ m was designed to fit on a 100 mm diameter Si wafer. The layout is shown in Figure 2.18. This design included two signal lines in parallel with four edge launch connectors. The simulation model and RF performance is shown in Figures 2.18 and 2.19. From Figure 2.20b, we note we have a predicted insertion loss (S_{21}) less than ~2 dB up to 14 GHz.



Figure 2.18: Layout for a one meter long microstrip with two signal conductors on a 100 mm diameter Si wafer.

2.4.3 A 5 cm long stripline

A 5 cm long stripline was designed based on the dielectric constant of 2.9 [31] and a dielectric thickness of 20 μ m. We calculated the line width based on Pozar's derivation [36], as shown in Equation 2.3. Z_0 is the characteristic impedance, ϵ_r is the dielectric constant of



Figure 2.19: Simulation model for a one meter long microstrip on PI-2611.

the material and t is the dielectric thickness.

$$W = t \cdot \left(\frac{30\pi}{\sqrt{\epsilon_r}Z_0} - 0.441\right) \tag{2.3}$$

Based on Equation 2.3, we determined the line width to be $\sim 13.3 \ \mu\text{m}$. After simulation, we adjusted the line width to 12 μm . The design for the 5 cm stripline is shown in Figure 2.21. A single stripline cable is shown in Figure 2.22. The stripline had a CPW launch on both ends that were used to interface to the edge launch connectors. Due to complexity of the structure, we performed a finite element model (FEM) simulation on a 2 mm long structure. The simulation results are shown in Figure 2.24. We note below -20 dB match and less than -0.01 dB in loss.

2.4.4 A 1 meter long stripline

A meter long stripline was designed to study the feasibility of fabricating multi-layer transmission lines that were significantly longer than 5 cm. The design was for a 125 mm diameter Si wafer. There are two stripline cables with each cable having two signal lines that were 12 μ m wide. The design is shown in Figure 2.25. A closer view of the two signal



Figure 2.20: ADS simulation of (a) S_{11} and (b) S_{21} of a 1 meter long microstrip.

n na kana manana manana manangan manangan na kanangan manangan na kanangan na kanangan na kanangan na kanangan Na kanangan na k			
an a fan ar yn arwen werzen an glenn yn gante die sy'n araden ar adwarte yn Brenn ar yn arwen ar yn araden ar yn araden ar yn araden ar ar yn ar yn ar yn araden ar yn ar yn ar yn araden a			
alaalaa aa ahaa ahaa ahaa ahaa ahaa aha	10 al spinor as private metals along the second state (a) along a second state (a) and (b) along a second state (b) al		
Traves a preside an exploring a second second of Artering a preside a			
TO WAR IN JAMAN 1999 AN INCOME IN COMMUNICATION OF A PARTY OF			
a de la companya de la	n 1911 al sector en activitatio deve al a listato en alticulto deve 1 21 al sector en activitati discond		
2.100.000.000.000.000.000.000.000.000.00		「福田」人口	
		-	
i i bila na si bila disi 17 shi jina na si bi bila kini ka si bila di ka si bila di si bila di si bila di si b Ri ta bila da si bila di	(c) al maine en sectemente de la dividire en administration de la Dividire en administration de la dividire en administration de la dividina de la dividire en adm		
a na sense a sense a sense de la sense La sense de la sense de la La sense de la s	1997 – Arrisa markina 1997 - El Arabina akinda 1994 20. Analos a sekina 1997 - A Serie Coleccione Secienza de la colección de la Arabina de la colección de la c		
ا بالمنظر هستشرار الخطاطين و بيناريند از اما منظر ميشرين. 1914 - منظر المنظر التراخية المنظر	n 19. – Angen a pelang, kasal disekan pelang, kasal di disekan pelang kasal Kasal di pelangkan pe		
en system en peleteren men ef eksel sin en peleter in den kan en sekteren en En som en sekteren inter har i den som en sekteren i den som en sekteren i den som en som en sekteren i den som			
intelling on advices that all strapling or graphic fields in children or advice of Branch and the second strapling of the sec	الله المان المناطقية في يمانية في العامين والمنظوم من من يعان المحمل المنظمية من من عن المارية في الله من المانية المانية		
atalaha madalah ikataf dipilajin menjada ikatif atalah madalah i Sebata katafa katalah k	ang na pang na Pang na pang na		
analas a chara maral angle e gente first i andre a akary m Silan China Characteri (China China Chin	an and a second s		
et a subset au cada tabas di se con la segui par par para tabalan di subsetta di subsetta di se cada taba di s Segui para di secondo di secondo di segui para di secondo di secondo di secondo di secondo di secondo di second			
africation on advanta die 2,44 withing op gehick Market afrikation on advanta in National die state and a state of the state of			
areasana an ambana marajar adinganyan pagdin munaj fa areasan in kabanyan Da bara da barat dan da bara fa bara da bara da bara da bara fa bara da bara da bara da bara da bara da bara da			
ייינער איז	nite a cost and algebra and a set of the set		

Figure 2.21: Layout for a 5 cm long stripline on a 100 mm diameter Si wafer.

stripline	on polyi	mide (Er=:	2.9) <mark>st</mark>	ripline	on polyimide

Figure 2.22: A single 5 cm long stripline is shown with vias to ground.

lines with a via fence between the two signal lines is shown in Figure 2.26. The pink narrow lines are the signal lines. The rectangular pads are catch pads for the vias.



Figure 2.23: S₁₁ simulation of a stripline for two different line widths, showing an improvement in match with a 12 μ m line width.



Figure 2.24: ADS FEM simulation of (a) S_{11} and (b) S_{21} of a 2 mm long stripline with a CPW launch on both ends.



Figure 2.25: Layout of a one meter long stripline flex cable with all the layers shown. Two cables with two signal lines on each cable on a 125 mm Si diameter wafer is shown.



Figure 2.26: A close-up view of the two signal lines that are in parallel is shown in pink. The yellow wide regions is the patterned ground plane.

2.4.5 Meandered microstrip

Microstrip transmission lines that were one meter in length was determined to be an aggressive design that resulted in low yield. On a 100 mm diameter Si wafer, only one microstrip transmission line could be fabricated. We therefore decided to design transmission lines whose signal lines were meandered to yield lengths between 15 to 55 cm that could provide measurement results on the performance of these longer structures. The design for these meandered microstrip transmission lines and resonators is shown in Figure 2.27.

The simulation models and results for the 55, 25, and 15 cm long microstrip transmission lines are shown in Figures 2.29-2.33. The simulation model for a \sim 55 cm long microstrip is shown in Figure 2.28. The simulation results are shown in Figure 2.29. We note from Figure 2.29a that our match is below -10 dB up to \sim 6 GHz with intrinsic insertion loss of less than -1 dB up to 14 GHz, as shown in Figure 2.29b. The simulation model for the \sim 25 cm long microstrip is shown in Figure 2.30. The model is similar to the \sim 55 cm long line. We make note that the match, shown in Figure 2.31a, stays below -10 dB up to \sim 6 GHz, as well. The intrinsic insertion loss stayed below -0.5 dB, as shown in Figure 2.31b. The \sim 15 cm long microstrip model is shown in Figure 2.32. Similar to the other microstrip models, we show the simulation results for the return and insertion loss in Figures 2.33a and 2.33b. The intrinsic insertion loss stays below -0.25 dB up to 14 GHz. We conclude from these simulations is that even at lengths of 55 cm, the intrinsic microstrip performance is very low.



Figure 2.27: Mask design for meandered microstrip transmission lines and resonators with lengths ranging from ${\sim}15$ to 55 cm.



Figure 2.28: Simulation model for a ${\sim}55~{\rm cm}$ long microstrip.



Figure 2.29: ADS simulation of (a) S_{11} and (b) S_{21} simulations of a ~55 cm long microstrip design.



Figure 2.30: Simulation model for a ${\sim}25~{\rm cm}$ long microstrip.



Figure 2.31: ADS simulation of (a) S_{11} and (b) S_{21} of a ~25 cm long microstrip on PI-2611.


Figure 2.32: Mask design for meandered microstrip transmission lines and resonators with lengths ranging from ${\sim}15$ to 55 cm.



Figure 2.33: ADS simulation of (a) S_{11} and (b) S_{21} of a ~15 cm long microstrip on PI-2611.

Chapter 3

Fabrication Processes

In this chapter we discuss the fabrication processes that were developed for AlN, Kapton, and spin-on dielectrics such as AL-X 2025 and PI-2611. We built several types of transmission lines, which included CPW, CBCPW, microstrip, embedded microstrip, and stripline. The initial prototypes consisted of CBCW and CPW on AL-X, and Kapton and were ~4 mm in length. These samples were path-finders, they helped us define the fabrication steps that were needed, such as photoresist, and dielectric bake times, spin-on speeds for photoresist and dielectrics to achieve the desired thicknesses, etc.

This chapter begins with the discussion of AlN substrates and the fabrication steps that were undertaken. We then continue with discussion of CBCPW flex cables on AL-X and the surface treatment that was required to yield low-stress Nb metallization on AL-X. Fabrication and attachment methods that were undertaken on Kapton films are also discussed. In the next section, we discuss the fabrication process on polyimide PI-2611 for microstrip, stripline, and embedded microstrip transmission lines. We discuss in great detail the fabrication and associated challenges that were encountered. In the last section, we discuss the release process used to create free-standing RF flex cables from the spin-on dielectrics. More specifically, we discuss the anodic dissolution of Al in a salt bath. Stepby-step fabrication travelers are provided in the Appendix for all the processes discussed in this chapter.

3.1 AlN

The as-received AlN substrates were oxidized at 800 °C for 30 minutes in an oxygen ambient furnace. The substrates were then baked in a vacuum oven at 120 °C and primed

with hexamethyldisilizane (HMDS)¹ for 10 minutes. A positive-tone photoresist was then applied and exposed with a CPW pattern. The substrates where then loaded into a metal deposition chamber for sputtering. A Nb film was then sputtered at 1 kW with a rate of ~ 0.14 nm/s to yield a 250 nm thick film. These samples were then patterned with a design that overlaid UBM onto designed points on the CPW traces. An EBPVD process was used to deposit the UBM consisting of Ti/Cu/Au with a thickness of 500/2000/500 Å, respectively. The substrates were then mounted onto a Si handle wafer with the backside exposed (signal side down). Nb was then sputter deposited onto the backside with the same parameters as the signal-side metallization. A CBCPW on an AlN substrate for flip-chip bonding an individual flex cable is shown in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1: AlN substrate with CPW patterns and UBM metallization for flip-chip attachment of an individual flex cable.

3.2 AL-X CBCPW

As-received Si handle wafers were deposited with Cr/Al by EBPVD to a thickness of 500 Å/2000 Å, respectively. The handle wafers were then baked in vacuum oven at 110 °C for 30 minutes and an adhesion promoter (AP903) was applied and baked at 100 °C for 90 seconds. AL-X was then spin-coated to a thickness of 50 μ m and cured in a nitrogen ambient oven

¹http://www.imicromaterials.com/technical/hmds



Figure 3.2: Nb on AL-X (a) without ion milling (b) with 2 minutes of ion milling treatment.

following the guidelines of the manufacturer [30]. Positive-tone photoresist was then applied and exposed with CPW traces. These substrates were then loaded into a metal deposition system for Nb sputtering. A 2 minute ion milling with Ar at 1 kV was performed prior to the sputter deposition. We experimentally determined the ion milling step was necessary to avoid buckling of the Nb film on this dielectric. Representative microscopy images of the Nb film on AL-X are shown in Figure 3.2. We note that the as-deposited Nb without ion milling (Figure 3.2a) appeared wrinkled, while the ion milling treatment resulted in a smoother Nb film, as shown in Figure 3.2b.

A CBCPW flex cable on AL-X after removal from the Si handle wafer is shown in Figure 3.3a. A representative sample mounted on the AlN is shown in Figure 3.3b. We note that after removing the dielectric from the substrate, it became very brittle. We therefore did not use this material after these initial prototypes were made.



Figure 3.3: (a) CBCPW on a 30 μm thick AL-X (b) a representative AL-X flex sample mounted onto a AlN substrate.

3.3 Free-standing Kapton

E-series Kapton films received from the vendor were inspected and cut to fit onto Si handle wafers. The surface of the Kapton was cleaned in methanol and rinsed in DI water to remove surface contamination.

3.3.1 CPW and CBCPW

Kapton films were baked in an oven at 110 °C for 30 minutes and primed with HMDS while still warm. The Kapton films were then mounted onto Si handle wafers and coated with positive tone photoresist and baked at 110 °C on a hot plate. The Kapton samples were then exposed and developed with either a CPW or CBCPW pattern. Great care was then undertaken to dry the film, to avoid cracking the photoresist on the Kapton. The samples were then loaded into a metal deposition system and sputter deposited with Nb at 1 kW at a rate of ~0.14 nm/s to yield a 250 nm thick film. A lift-off process was performed and the photolithography process was repeated to define UBM pads on the Nb traces. These samples were loaded into the metal deposition chamber and EBPVD was used to deposit a

Ti/Cu/Au with a thickness of 500/2000/500 Å, respectively. Following a lift-off step, the CPW samples were cut into individual flex cables; for the CBCPW Kapton samples, they were mounted onto a new Si handle wafer with the backside exposed and sputtered with the same Nb deposition parameters as the signal metallization. A Kapton film with CPW patterns before UBM deposition is shown in Figure 3.4.

A CPW sample with Nb metallization and In bumps on Kapton is shown in Figure 3.5a. An In solder paste was applied to the UBM pads with a syringe and a heat gun was used to reflow the In. Samples were then flip-chip bonded to AlN substrate that had corresponding UBM pads using an FC150 flip-chip bonder. A CPW sample flip-chip bonded onto an AlN substrate is shown in Figure 3.5b. Unfortunately, controlling the solder volume through this method proved to be difficult. Samples would routinely short due to excess solder after the flip-bonding step. If this method were to be pursued further, indium plating would have been a potential alternative [40].



Figure 3.4: CPW with topside Nb metallization on free-standing Kapton before UBM deposition.



Figure 3.5: (a) CPW on a Kapton film with In bumps (b) a CPW flip-chip bonded onto a AlN substrate.

3.3.2 Microstrip

Kapton samples were optically inspected for surface defects (e.g. scratches) and those with a minimal amount of imperfections were cut to fit onto 100 mm diameter Si wafers. The Kapton films were then cleaned in methanol and DI water to remove any surface contamination. These Kapton films were then mounted onto a Si handle wafers with an adhesive tape and baked in a vacuum oven at 110 °C for 20 minutes. These samples were then primed with HMDS for 10 minutes and coated with positive-tone photoresist and baked on a hot plate at 110 °C for 2 minutes. These samples were then patterned with the microstrip signal design and loaded into the metal deposition chamber (as shown in Figures 3.6a and 3.6b) and sputter deposited with Nb. A typical lift-off step was performed on the Kapton films (Figure 3.6c) to complete the signal metallization. A Kapton film with signal and UBM metallization removed from the Si Handle wafer is shown in Figure 3.7.

The Kapton samples underwent a second lithography step to define UBM pads on the signal lines following the same lithography procedure outlined previously. After patterning, the samples were transferred to the metal deposition system for deposition of a Ti/Cu solder base (UBM) consisting of a thickness of 500 Å and 5000 Å, respectively (Figure 3.6d). After the UBM deposition, a typical lift-off process was performed leaving behind a solder base on both ends of the transmission line (Figure 3.6e).

The Kapton samples were then mounted with the signal side down onto a polished Si handle wafer for backside metallizaton. The ground plane was then deposited with the same parameters as the signal side metallization (shown in Figure 3.6f). Individual microstrip samples where then cut from the Kapton film.



Figure 3.6: Microstrip fabrication process on Kapton (a) bare Kapton film (b) photoresist was applied and patterned with microstrip design and metal is deposited (c) a lift-off process is performed (d) photoresist is applied and solder based is defined on the signal trace (e) lift-off process is repeated to leave the solder base on the signal line and (f) the ground plane of the microstrip is deposited.

3.4 Polyimide PI-2611

Several transmission lines were fabricated using HD MicroSystems PI-2611, a spin-on dielectric. We fabricated stripline and microstrip flex cables of varying lengths. What follows in this section is a discussion of the processing steps required to fabricate each type



Figure 3.7: Microstrip transmission lines on E-series Kapton before the ground plane metallization.

of transmission line on PI-2611. We begin our discussion with stripline, which is the most complex and ends with embedded microstrip transmission lines that required fewer processing steps.

3.4.1 Stripline

The stripline fabrication process began with deposition of a Cr/Al release layer with a thickness of 500 Å/2000 Å, respectively on a 125 mm diameter Si wafers (Figure 3.8a). Wafers were then transferred into a metal deposition chamber and the surface was ion milled for 2 minutes at 1 kV to remove the surface oxidation from the Al. After the ion milling process, the wafers were sputter deposited with Nb at 1 kW with a rate of ~0.14 nm/s to yield a 250 nm thick film (Figure 3.8b). This solid Nb film was the ground plane (M0) for the stripline. Wafers were then transferred to an oven and baked at 110 °C for 20 minutes. Wafers were then coated with VM652 adhesion promoter and baked at 120 °C for 1 minute. Polyimide was then spin-coated to a thickness of $\sim 10 \ \mu m$ and baked on a hot plate for 5 minutes at 120 °C. The wafers were then transferred to an nitrogen ambient oven and cured at 350 °C (Figure 3.8c) based on the manufacturers data sheet [31].

After the dielectric was cured, we etched vias in the dielectric to make contact to the underlying ground plane, following the process outlined by Mimoun et al. [41]. An Al hard mask was required to define the via regions in the dielectric. Therefore, the wafers were baked in vacuum oven at 110 °C for 20 minutes. While the wafers were still warm, they were loaded into the metal deposition system and ion milled for 2 minutes at 1 kV followed by an Al deposition by EBPVD at a rate of 2 Å/s to yield a 2000 Å thick film (Figure 3.8d). The Al was then patterned with a positive-tone photoresist with the via pattern and wet etched with aluminum etch 80-15-3-2 from J.T. Baker (Figure 3.8e). Wafers where then loaded into a Branson IPC asher and exposed to an oxygen plasma at a power of 1 kW for 60 minutes, which etched ~3 μ m into the polyimide. The wafers were then transferred to an STS advanced oxide etcher (AOE) to be etched anisotropically. The etch process concluded when contact to the ground plane was made (Figure 3.8f). After the etch process was complete, we rinsed the wafers in acetone, methanol, followed by a DI water rinse to remove any residual photoresist and solvent (Figure 3.9g). Wafers were then exposed to a short 30 second plasma at 150 W.

Wafers were then transferred into a vacuum oven and baked at 110 °C for 30 minutes and primed with HMDS. The signal and via metallization layer was then patterned (Figure 3.9h). Wafers were loaded into the metal deposition system and sputtered with Nb with the same parameters as the ground plane (Figure 3.9i). We then performed a lift-off process, which defined the signal line (M1) and contact to the underlying ground plane through the via (Via01), as shown in Figure 3.9j.

A second, encapsulating dielectric layer was then spun-on to a thickness of 10 μ m and cured at 350 °C (Figure 3.9k). The via etch process was then repeated as the first via layer. Wafers were baked at 110 °C for 20 minutes in a vacuum oven. While the wafers were still warm, they were loaded into the metal deposition system and ion milled for 2 minutes at 1 kV followed by an Al deposition by EBPVD at a rate of 2 Å/s to yield a 2000 Å thick film (Figure 3.91). The Al was then patterned with a positive-tone photoresist with the second via pattern (Via12) and wet etched in aluminum etchant (Figure 3.9m). Wafers were then transferred to a Branson IPC asher and exposed to an oxygen plasma at 1 kW for 60 minutes, which etched $\sim 3 \mu m$ into the polyimide. Wafers were then transferred to an STS avanced oxide etch to be etched aniostropically. The etch process was stopped when contact was made to the ground plane (Figure 3.10n). After the etch process was complete, we rinsed the wafers in acetone, methanol, followed by a DI water rinse to remove any residual photoresist and solvent, as shown in Figure 3.100.

After the dielectric etch steps were completed, the top ground plane (M2) following the same lithography steps previously discussed. We deposited the top ground plane with the same deposition parameters as before, shown in Figures 3.10p and 3.10q. We then performed a lift-off process to complete the Nb metallization process (Figure 3.11r). Wafers were then transferred to a dehydration bake oven at 110 °C and primed with HMDS and coated with positive-tone photoresist for the next lithography step. Wafers were then patterned with the solder pad mask (Figure 3.11s) and loaded into the metal deposition system. The solder pad metallization was deposited by EBPVD and consisted of a Ti/Cu layer with a thickness of 500 Å/5000 Å, respectively (Figure 3.11t). A lift-off process was performed and then samples were released from the wafer in a salt bath (Figures 3.11u-3.11v). A 5 cm long flex cable and a one meter long flex cable after release from the Si handle wafer are shown in Figure 3.12 and in Figure 3.13.

SEM images of the stripline before being released from the Si handle were taken to study the via profiles. In Figure 3.14, we note Via01 with a dielectric encassing the opening and in Figure 3.15, we can see the hollow via (Via12). In Figure 3.16, the launch structure without UBM is shown.



Figure 3.8: Stripline fabrication process flow (a) Si substrate is deposited with Cr/Al release layer (b) Nb ground plane is sputter deposited (c) spin-on PI-2611 to a 10 μ m thick film (d) deposit Al (e) pattern and wet etch the Al (f) dry etch the polyimide to make contact to the ground plane.

At the present time, the Nb metallization on these flex cables did exhibit superconductivity. We suspected the curing temperature was suppressing the superconductivity of the Nb films. We therefore shifted our focus to the fabrication of microstrip flex cables that did not subject the Nb metallization to a high temperature cure of 350 °C. Once we obtained superconducting Nb microstrip flex cables, we began to fabricate embedded microstrip flex cables, which were cured with a lower temperature of 225 °C.



Figure 3.9: Stripline fabrication process flow continued (g) Etch the Al hard mask (h) pattern the signal and via ground contact pads (i) sputter deposit Nb (j) lift-off signal and ground contact pads (k) spin-on PI-2611 to a 10 μ m thickness (l) deposit Al hard mask to etch second via.



Figure 3.10: Stripline fabrication continued (n) photoresist is applied to to define the second via and the Al hard mask is etched (o) second polyimide layer is etched to make contact to the via contact pad (p) Al hard mask is wet etched (q) pattern the top ground ground plane and via contact to the underlying ground plane



Figure 3.11: Stripline fabrication continued (r) ground plane is deposited (s) groundplane is sputter deposited and contact to via is made (t) photoresist is patterned for solder base metallization (u) solder base is deposited (v) lift-off of the solder base is performed (w) stripline sample is released from the underlying substrate in a salt bath



Figure 3.12: A set of 5 cm stripline flex cables released from a 125 mm diameter Si wafer.



Figure 3.13: A set of 1 meter long stripline flex cables released from a 125 mm diameter Si wafer.



Figure 3.14: SEM image of via01 (ground to the first dielectric layer) covered in polyimide.



Figure 3.15: SEM image of via01 and via12 shown with via12 (unfilled).



Figure 3.16: SEM of the launch region showing the vias and the top signal/ground metallization.

3.4.2 Microstrip

Microstrip samples were fabricated on 100 mm diameter Si handle wafers following a fabrication process very similar to the stripline. As-received Si wafers were coated with a Cr/Al release layer through EBPVD with a thickness of 500 Å/2000 Å, respectively (Figure 3.17a). An adhesion promoter, VM652, was then spun onto the release layer and baked on a hot plate at 120 °C for 1 minute. The dielectric was then spin coated onto the wafer to a thickness of ~10 μ m and baked on a hotplate at 120 °C for 5 minutes. The wafers were then transferred to a nitrogen ambient oven for curing at 350 °C. Wafers where then exposed to an O₂ plasma at a power of 150 Watts for 20 seconds to improve the adhesion of the next polyimide layer. Wafers were then baked in a vacuum oven at 110 °C for 20 minutes. A second PI-2611 layer was spin-coated following the same steps as the previous layer, to yield a total dielectric thickness of ~20 μ m (Figure 3.17b).

After the dielectric spin-on steps were complete, the signal lines were patterned using a positive-tone photoresist. A two minute ion mill was performed at 1 kV, prior to the Nb sputter deposition. A lift-off process was then undertaken to define the signal lines of the microstrip (Figure 3.17c). After the lift-off process, wafers were patterned for UBM, consisting of Ti/Cu, 500/5000 Å, respectively. Following the UBM deposition and lift-off (Figure 3.17d), wafers were coated with positive-tone photoresist and baked at 110 °C and diced into individual samples. Samples were then loaded into a salt bath solution and released from the Si handle wafer (Figure 3.17e). After the release process was complete, samples were free-standing films that had their surface cleaned from the photoresist using acetone, methanol, and DI water. These samples were then mounted onto a 100 mm Si wafer with the signal side facing the Si polished surface and the backside of the film was exposed. These samples were then loaded into the metal deposition chamber and sputtered with the same parameters as the signal line (Figure 3.17f). A 5 cm long microstrip sample after the backside metallization was completed is shown in Figure 3.18. Microstrip samples of longer lengths were also fabricated. Meandered microstrip lines that had lengths up to 55 cm were made with the same process outlined above with a different signal mask design. All other processing steps remained the same. A one meter microstrip was also fabricated, but had poor yield. A one meter microstrip, after release from the Si handle wafer is shown in Figure 3.19. the fabrication process was slightly different. The thickness of the dielectric was only $\sim 10 \ \mu$ m thick, requiring only one spin-on and cure step. In addition, this microstrip had a patterned Nb ground plane that was directly deposited onto the release layer. Therefore, the Nb ground plane underwent a 350 °C curing process that appeared to have degraded the Nb quality. We therefore began studying embedded microstrip flex cables, discussed in the next-section with a lower dielectric curing of 225 °C temperature.



Figure 3.17: Microstrip fabrication process on PI-2611 (a) release layer is deposited onto a Si wafer (b) PI-2611 is applied and cured in two steps to achieve a 20 μ m thick dielectric (c) signal layer is sputter deposited (d) solder base is deposited by EBPVD (e) samples are released from the wafer (f) ground plane of the microstrip is sputter deposited.



Figure 3.18: A 5 cm flex cable fabricated on PI-2611 after backside Nb metallization.



Figure 3.19: A one meter microstrip after release from a 100 mm diameter Si wafer.

3.4.3 Embedded microstrip

The fabrication process of an embedded microstrip follows the same fabrication steps as the 5 cm long microstrip. After the signal layer was deposited and lift-off process was preformed, Kapton tape was then placed onto each end of the solder pad regions of the microstrip to prevent the polyimide from encasing these connection points. The polyimide was then applied to a thickness of ~10 μ m and cured in a nitrogen ambient oven at 225 °C. This temperature was experimentally determined to be sufficient to cure the dielectric and not significantly degrade the superconducting properties of the Nb. After the top dielectric layer was cured on the signal line, we removed the Kapton tape from the solder pads and the samples were patterned for UBM metallization. We deposited a UBM of Ti/Cu consisted of a thickness of 500/5000 Å, respectively. After a lift-off, these samples were diced and released from the Si handle wafer in a salt bath solution. The free-standing films where then mounted onto a new Si handle wafer, with the signal side facing the wafer and the backside was sputter deposited Nb.

3.5 Flex cable release process

At the end of the front-side fabrication process (signal and UBM metallization), the samples were diced and removed from the Si handle wafer through the anodic dissolution of Al in a salt bath. The release process of these flex cables was not limited by the design or substrate size, although larger substrates required a longer time to release. Due to our equipment capabilities and processing steps required, we either used a 100 or 125 mm diameter Si handle wafers. The release layer consisted of a chromium and aluminum layers that were 500 Å and 2000 Å thick, respectively.

The flex cables were released from the underlying substrate by anodically etching the Al seed layer in a NaCl water bath. The samples were submerged into a 2 M solution and biased at 0.5 V. From Figure 3.20, we note that at potentials that are higher than -0.5 V, the aluminum begins to be etched away in the water bath. This implies that even without



Figure 3.20: Current density versus applied potential. The regions for aluminum dissolution are shown as a light grey line and as a dark line for chromium. Adapted from [42].

a potential applied to the wafer, the Al will be etched away in the presence of a NaCl bath. The process is described in greater detail by Metz et al., in their work they measured the release rate of polyimide and SU-8 with a set of controlled areas [42].

The salt water bath consisted of laboratory grade sodium chloride $(NaCl)^2$ that was mixed with deionized (DI) water to create a solution that was 2 Molar (M) in concentration. The calculations are shown in Equation 3.1. In the most general case for any volume (V) to produce a 2M concentration solution of NaCl in DI water. Therefore a 1.5 L solution of 2 M solution would require 175.2 g of NaCl. The release process was undertaken at room temperature. Typical release times varied from several hours to over 24 hours.

$$m_{NaCl} = V_{H_2O} \times \frac{116.8g \cdot NaCl}{1L \cdot H_2O}[g]$$
 (3.1)

²Sigma-Aldrich CAS # 647-14-5

Chapter 4

Measurement Setup and Calibration

In this chapter we present the equipment in our laboratory that was used for DC and RF measurements, which include the storage Dewars for liquid nitrogen and helium and a pulse tube based cryostat. We also present the measurement holders that were custom designed to be interfaced with our different systems. In addition, we also discuss the LabVIEW software that was written to automate routine DC and RF measurements. We review in-depth the RF calibration process and introduce RF standards that were built on edge launch connectors.

This chapter begins with a discussion of the LabVIEW software that was written for automating resistance vs. temperature measurements (for determining T_c) and controlling a set of RF switches for calibration. We then discuss in great detail the calibration process that was required to reduce the systematic errors of the network analyzer and cabling. We then discuss the calibration method and standards that we built to calibrate the measurement equipment in liquid helium. We then conclude this chapter with a comparison of these standards to commercially available calibration kit at room temperature to asses any major differences.

4.1 Measurement equipment and automation

The cryogenic systems in our laboratory consist of a Cryo Industries of America pulse tube (PT) based cryostat with a base temperature of ~ 3 K (Figure 4.1) and liquid nitrogen and helium Dewars from CryoFab, as shown in Figure 4.2. The temperature of the cryostat was monitored with a Lakeshore 335 temperature controller. We have the capabilities to perform 2-wire or 4-wire DC resistance measurements of samples through the use of an Agilent 34420a micro-ohm meter. For RF measurements, we used a Agilent PNA N5227A 4-port network analyzer, shown in Figure 4.3.



Figure 4.1: Cryo Industries of America pulse tube based cryostat.

4.1.1 T_c measurements

Two LabVIEW programs were developed to allow the users in our laboratory record temperature and resistance data to lowest temperature in the PT, which is ~ 3 K. The first program shown in Figure 4.4, allows the user to measure the resistance of the sample as it cools down in the PT. In Figure 4.5, the block diagram is shown. A while-loop monitors the current temperature and compares it to the given set-point, if the temperature is less than or equal to the given set-point, the program stops. Basic error handling was also implemented in the program; if the software loses connectivity to the measurement equipment, the



Figure 4.2: Dewars in our laboratory for (a) liquid nitrogen (b) liquid helium.



Figure 4.3: Agilent PNA N5227A 4-port network analyzer connected to the pulse tube cryostat with ports 1 and 2 labeled.

measurements are stopped. The software reads the temperature from a Lakeshore 335 temperature controller and queries a Keysight 34420A micro-ohm meter every second. The data is stored in two individuals arrays, one for the temperature and another for the resistance values. Once the program finishes gathering data, it prompts the operator to save the data. The arrays of information are then written to a tab-delimited file. The file contains header information with the sample id, temperature, and resistance.

The second resistance measurement program, is a bit more complex, the front panel of the program is shown in Figure 4.6. This program allows the operator to set a starting temperature, a final temperature, a temperature step size, a wait time before going onto the next set-point, and a heater controller. The program verifies the set-point temperature is higher than the current temperature, it then sets the temperature on the Lakeshore controller to the given start temperature and heats the sample holder, the program waits until it is within 0.5% of the given temperature set point. Once the set point temperature has been reached, the program dwells for a user-given amount of time (default: one minute), before it takes a set of three resistance measurements and averages the values. The program then proceeds to the next temperature set point by increasing the current set-point by the given step size. The "middle_setpoint" in the program, allows the user to increase to take coarser step sizes after it reaches the "middle_setpoint". The "coarse_step size" and by default set to increment at 5 K intervals, it is used to reduce the measurement time at the higher temperature ranges, where the resistance does not changing significantly. The "heater range" controls how much power is provided to the resistive heater to raise the temperature of the sample sensor to the given set point.

A custom PCB was made that used $pogo^1$ pins to interface to samples that were ~ 2.1 × 2.1 cm² in area. Pogo pins were used for making resistance measurements with minimal damage caused to the samples. The PCB is shown in Figure 4.7, two pogo pins force and sink the current, and the two other pogo pins measure the voltage. By using a 4-wire measurement setup, we eliminated the resistance from the cabling. The sample holder used in these measurements is shown in Figure 4.8.

4.1.2 Microwave switches

LabVIEW code was written to control the RF outputs of two microwave switches at room temperature and in liquid He. We used a BK Precision 1697 DC power supply and a Measurement Computing USB-ERB24 DC relay to pulse a voltage to two radiall² microwave switches. Therefore, by using one relay, we used a single power supply to actuate the two switches independently. Each position on the relay was addressed by writing a bit-string to the DC relay. A table that summarizes the bit-strings for the different positions that were

¹Everett Charles Technologies: HPA-0J

²Model: R573 423 600



Figure 4.4: LabVIEW front panel for the acquisition of resistance data. Software stops logging data at a given setpoint temperature.

used to control the switches is shown in Table 4.1. The equipment that used to interface and operate the switches is shown in Figure 4.9.

The front panel diagram of the Labview code is shown in Figure 4.10. The program interfaces to a BK power supply and sets the voltage, based on the test environment: "Testing at 4.2 K" or "room temperature", sets the voltage to either 28 Volts or 10 Volts. The power supply leads are wired to the connected (C) position, and the output lines are connected to the normally open position (NO). We latch to the given position by writing a bit-string to the relay, which latches from the C to the NO. We reset the latch, by addressing the position and writing a bit string of "0", which forces the relay to unlatch. When a position is latched, it sends either a 28 Volt or 10 Volt signal to the given position, which forces the microwave switch to latch to the given position. The bit strings to address a position on the switch is shown in Table 4.1. Relay positions 1-8 were used for switch 1 and positions 9 through 16 were used for switch 2. Some modifications to the switch were made to have the switch



Figure 4.5: LabVIEW block diagram for the acquisition of resistance data.



Figure 4.6: Front panel for a LabVIEW program that allows the user to ramp the temperature to a given set point and acquire resistance data as a function of increasing temperature.

work in liquid He. A schematic diagram of how the different equipment is wired is shown in Figure 4.11.

An as-received RF switch, is shown in Figure 4.12, has a protective metal enclosure and inside are two PCBs that are vertically stacked that route the DC signal, ground, and reset traces to a set of nine pins. Based on the dissertation by Kurtis [43], we removed the enclosure on one switch, removed the two PCBs and directly soldered DC lines to the



Figure 4.7: PCB for four-wire resistance measurements.



Figure 4.8: Sample holder for 2.1 cm \times 2.1 cm sized samples.

pins on the switch. Prior to making direct connections to the fragile pins, we used a nonconductive cryogenic epoxy³ to keep these pins in-place. As shown in Figure 4.13, the ground connections to each solenoid are connected together, the reset locations are also wired to a common reset wire. Each switch was modified the same with the connections following the same color scheme, in order to track the wiring.

³Stycast 2850-FT, Catalyst 9



Figure 4.9: Equipment used for controlling microwave switches and ancillary hardware used to measure the resistance of samples.

Relay Position	Bit string	Switch Position	Note
1	-	GND	Negative Common
2	$00000010(0x2_{16})$	1	Open
3	$00000100(0x4_{16})$	2	Short
7	$01000000(0x40_{16})$	6	Load
8	$10000000(0x80_{16})$	Reset	Reset
9	$00010000\ 0000\ (0x100_{16})$	1	Open
10	$00100000\ 0000\ (0\mathrm{x}200_{16})$	2	Short
11	$010000000000(0x400_{16})$	3	Load
15	$0100\ 0000\ 0000\ 0000\ (0x4000_{16})$	Reset	Reset
6 & 14	$0010000000100000(0\mathrm{x}2020_{16})$	5, 4	Thru

Table 4.1: Relay positions and bit address string for two RF switches.

BK 1698 Port Settings VISA In COM4 Set before running program: Test Environment Testing at 4. 2K Stop	USB-ERB24 Relay Port Dev0/1stPortA, Dev0/1stPortB Calibration Calibration Port P1 Open	status code source
---	---	-----------------------

Figure 4.10: LabVIEW front panel for controlling two radiall RF switches.



Figure 4.11: Schematic diagram of the equipment used to control radiall switches. Ground wire is connected to (C) on pin 1, the voltage outputs on the relay are connected to the normally open (NO), and the voltage input is connected on (C) of pin 2 on the relay.



Figure 4.12: An as-received radiall six-position RF switch.



Figure 4.13: Radiall switch with the PCB removed and connections soldered directly. Red is the common ground, blue is signal, and yellow is the reset.
4.2 Calibration overview

The purpose of an RF calibration is to reduce system errors introduced by the internals of the measurement equipment, cabling, and adapters that are used to interface to the device under test (DUT). What follows is a discussion of the calibration process for a shortopen-load-Thru (SOLT) calibration that is very similar to a short-open-load-reciprocal thru calibration to discuss some of the errors that are mathematically corrected for in the network analyzer. The error correction process would be similar with other types of calibration methods such as thru-reflect-line (TRL) method.

A simplified block diagram of the internals of a network analyzer is shown in Figure 4.14. The source generates the signals that are sent to an incident receiver R and to the DUT. The purpose of the incident receiver is to track the source signal magnitude and phase. The reflected and transmitted receivers are used to measure the signal that was either reflected by the DUT or transmitted through it.

Error correction is applied internally in the network analyzer to correct for signal leakage in the couplers and internal circuitry. The errors that are calibrated for are outlined in Figure 4.15. There are four main error corrections that are performed during an SOLT calibration. The first error correction is shown in Figure 4.15a, a 50 Ω load would be connected on port 1, a signal would be transmitted and receiver R would track the magnitude and phase of the signal sourced. Receiver A is expecting no reflections, therefore no signal should be measured on A. Due to the couplers and the different paths that the signal takes inside the network analyzer, some signal reaches receiver A, this would be considered a directivity error.

The second error correction is shown in Figure 4.15b, with the load connected to the input port. A signal is generated and incident on the load, since this is a one port measurement, receiver B should not measure any signal. Due the internal circuity, a signal is measured on receiver B. This is considered an isolation error. Ports 1 and 2 should be completely isolated from each other.



Figure 4.14: A simplified block diagram of a network analyzer. Adapted from [44].

After the load has been measured, the third correction is applied by connecting a short or an open standard (a reflection standard is needed) on port 1. When the signal is sourced and reaches the short or the open, the signal should be completely reflected back to receiver A, but due to internal reflections from the connections, some of the signal does not reach receiver A. This is called a source match error and is illustrated in Figure 4.15c.

The fourth correction is applied by measuring a thru standard. As shown in Figure 4.15d, a signal would be sent to the thru standard and receiver B would measure the output through the DUT. Some of the signal is reflected on port 2 and is measured on receiver A, this is termed a load match error. This error is removed from transmission and reflection measurements [45]. There are two other errors that are also calibrated for by the network analyzer, they are termed frequency response reflection and frequency response transmission tracking errors [45]. Frequency response reflection tracking uses the short and open to analyze the amplitude of the signal that reached receiver A and compares it to the reference receiver

R. The amplitudes of the signal should be the same, but due to cabling and adapters, they are not. Therefore complex math is used to calculate the difference and mathematically corrected for to reduce the difference. The same process is used for transmission tracking error, except a thru is used, and the magnitude of the signal transmitted to receiver B is compared to the reference receiver R. A diagram of this process is shown in Figure 4.16.



Figure 4.15: Calibration process for reducing systematic measurement (a) directivity (b) isolation (c) source and (d) load errors. Adapted from [45].



Figure 4.16: Frequency response and reflection and transmission tracking errors (a) short or open connected (b) amplitude of signal compared to reference receiver A (c) thru measurement for transmission tracking error and (d) amplitude of signal comparison to receiver B. Adapted from [45].

4.3 Cryogenic calibration

Mechanical and electronic calibration standards that are commonly used for room temperature calibration are generally not usable at cryogenic temperatures. For example, the Keysight (Agilent) 85052D calibration kit used in this work for room temperature calibration has a rated temperature range between 20 °C (293.2 K) to 26 °C (299.15 K) [46]. Therefore, for calibration at cryogenic temperatures, it is necessary to make or assemble standards that that can be used from temperature of 77 K and below. At cryogenic temperatures, TRL calibration [47] is one of the most commonly used methods at low temperatures to set the reference plane at the Device Under Test (DUT) [7,48]. For ultra-low temperatures (mK range), microwave switches with TRL standards are used for calibration. For most applications, TRL is the most suitable calibration method when the DUT is interfaced through a PCB or a custom-made holder [7, 49], especially when the DUT is the only changing component.

An alternative, albeit less accurate calibration method, using a single port is a Short-Open-Load (SOL) calibration. SOL has been previously shown to be a suitable calibration method at low temperatures to calibrate the network analyzer and to set the reference plane at the DUT [50, 51]. A one port calibration does not remove the errors associated with transmission or load match. Therefore this calibration is limited in accuracy. What is of interest in their work was the use Nichrome films that were made into 50 ohm resistors. These resistors were shown to be stable at temperatures as low as 4.2 K.

A two-port calibration method such as SOLT (Short-Open-Load-Thru) requires a known electrical length for the thru standard and requires four standards, not including the DUT. Meanwhile, SOLR (Short-Open-Load-Reciprocal thru) calibration only requires three standards with the DUT serving as the uknown-thru [52]. The calibration is similar to the SOLT, with the exception of the thru standard. In the SOLR calibration, there are no assumptions made on the electrical length of the thru sample, the network analyzer determines this electrical length. In order for the network analyzer to determine this electrical length, the thru has to be reciprocal $(S_{21} = S_{12})$ and there has to be less than 40 dB loss to the DUT, otherwise there is not enough signal coming back to the network analyzer to accurately determine the length [53].

For our research purposes, where the material sets were changing including the metallization, the TRL calibration method would have been impractical. If we were to have used a TRL calibration, we would have needed to build set of standards for every variation of metallization and dielectric of interest. Therefore, the SOLR calibration method was the most suitable; it reduced the calibration time, the DUT was used as a calibration standard, and it reduced the calibration error by limiting the cable movements and adapters needed to interface to the DUT. Therefore, we developed a set of calibration standards (Short-Open-Load) on Southwest Microwave edge launch connectors for the SOLR calibration method. Based on the work reported by [51] that showed the stability of NiCr metallization, we sought out commercial NiCr resistors that could be used as load standards in this type of calibration.

We present the SOLR calibration standards that were used to measure microstrip flex cables. In the next section, we discuss the different standards that were implemented on edge launch connectors, compare their performance to Keysight standards at room temperature and compare two sets of standards to each other, in order to study the variation between each standard.

4.3.1 Calibration standards and procedures

A set of four calibration standards were assembled on Southwest Microwave edge launch connectors (short, open, and load). The set of standards are shown in Figure 4.17 and a representative thru is shown in Figure 4.18. A close-up microscopy image of the nichrome (NiCr) resistor shown in Figure 4.19. Southwest Microwave SMA connectors were chosen for this work because they have an adjustable grounding plate and the smallest signal pin diameter (0.005 inch) commercially available that we are aware of. These two properties made interfacing to thin (50 μ m and less) microwave flex cables possible.



Figure 4.17: A representative set of calibration standards assembled on Southwest Microwave edge launch connectors.



Figure 4.18: A representative ~ 25 cm long microstrip line as a thru standard.

4.3.2 Measurement of calibration standards at room temperature

An 85052D calibration kit was used to perform a one-port calibration to set the calibration plane at the end of a short SMA cable, standards were then connected to the SMA cable and their response was measured. The purpose was to determine how two of the same standards assembled at different times would vary. The open standard is shown in Figure 4.20, with a variation of 0.2 db near 8-10 GHz band, but for the most part, symmetric across every other frequency range. The short standard was measured in the same method and the measurement results are shown in Figure 4.21. We note a difference in the short standard of ~0.1 db above 6 GHz, but we believe this deviation was acceptable. The load standard measurements are shown in Figure 4.22, we note a deviation of ~5 dB, but both standards



Figure 4.19: Close-up view of a thin-film NiCr chip resistor.

are significantly below -20 dB across the frequency range. We can conclude from these measurements that standards are fairly consistent across the frequency range of interest (10 MHz to 14 GHz).

For comparison, we also measured the 85052D calibration standards without performing a calibration to compare the RF performance in the same frequency range to our in-house assembled standard. Although this method is less accurate since it includes the cable losses and internal network analyzer errors, we can state the instrument and cable errors are fairly constant and therefore the standards are close. From the uncalibrated measurements, shown in Figures 4.23-4.25, we can conclude the standards are comparable to the 85052D calibration standards at room temperature.



Figure 4.20: S_{11} measurement for two open standards assembled on edge launch connectors.



Figure 4.21: S_{11} measurement for two short standards assembled on edge launch connectors.



Figure 4.22: S_{11} measurement for two load standards assembled on edge launch connectors.



Figure 4.23: S_{11} measurement of a open standard assembled on an edge launch connector and a 85052D open standard for comparison.



Figure 4.24: S_{11} measurement of a short standard assembled on an edge launch connector and a 85052D short standard for comparison.



Figure 4.25: S_{11} measurement of a load standard assembled on an edge launch connectors and a 85052D load standard for comparison.

4.3.3 Cryogenic calibration process in liquid He

The cryogenic calibration process in liquid He (LHe) consists of a test fixture that minimized the cable and sample movement. The rod used for calibration in the Dewar is shown in Figure 4.26 with a microstrip sample connected to the end of each SMA cable. The top of the rod is shown in Figure 4.27, which highlights the SMA connectors with 90 degree bend adapters and a Teflon Dewar cap. The Teflon cap isolates each of the SMA connectors, which allows us to measure the signal and ground resistance. The calibration process consisted of loading the appropriate standard onto the end of the SMA cables and cooling the standard in liquid nitrogen (LN₂) Dewar. After the rod, SMA cables and the standards were themallized, we transferred the rod into a liquid He Dewar. After the standard was measured in liquid He, the fixture was heated and brought up to room temperature, before the next standard was connected.



Figure 4.26: A rod for mounting samples in a Dewar with a microstrip sample mounted for testing.

4.3.4 Assembly of calibration standards

For the SOLR calibration, we require an open, a short, a load and the sample as the thru. A short standard was made by soldering with Indium a thin copper foil directly onto the SMA connector signal pin. The two wire resistance measurement of the short was measured



Figure 4.27: Topside of the rod with SMA connectors shown.

to be ~0.5 Ω at room temperature and ~0.2 Ω at 4.2 K. For the open standard, we removed the adjustable grounding plate of the SMA connector to prevent shorting the signal pin to grounding wall. For the load standard, we used a 50 Ω NiCr resistor from Vishay⁴. The NiCr resistor that was ordered had two contact pads that were pre-tinned with solder, one pad of the resistor was aligned to the signal pin of the connector and the other pad made contact to the grounding wall. The assembly was reflowed in a oven to ensure a good solder contact. We verified the resistance of the NiCr did not deviate more than 1 percent from room temperature at DC to 4.2 K in a pulse-tube cryostat by a two-wire measurement. The two-wire resistance measurement results are shown in Figure 4.28.

⁴Part # FC0402E50R0BTBT1



Figure 4.28: Representative resistance vs. temperature measurement of the thin film NiCr resistor using a two wire measurement setup.

Chapter 5

Results and Discussion

In this chapter we present the RF measurements and modeling results of microstrip transmission lines on Kapton and PI-2611. This chapter begins with an introduction to the simulation models that were implemented in Keysight ADS using the circuit model toolkit. A discussion of the impact of kinetic inductance on the RF performance of these transmission lines. is then presented. We then present the measurement results for a Ti/Nb and Ti/Cu microstrip lines on Kapton [54]. Due to concerns that the Ti under layer might have introduced additional RF loss, we also fabricated, measured, and fit a model to a Nb microstrip transmission line that omitted the Ti under layer.

The measurement results of microstrip transmission lines on PI-2611 are presented. This spin-on dielectric was used to fabricate transmission lines of various lengths. With this dielectric we studied metallizations that included Ti/Nb, Nb-only, Nb/Cu, and Nb/Al microstrip lines. Metallization such as Nb/Cu and Nb/Al were of interest as previous research has shown these metals can improve the mechanical reliability of Nb [55–58]. DC measurements in our research group of Nb with various cladded meallization have indicated a minimal impact on the T_c of Nb [59], while resonator measurements indicated that the addition of a normal metal introduce additional RF loss, until this metal was proximitized with the Nb [60] at ~1.2 K. Although the extent of the proximity into the normal metal was dependant on the thickness.

Based on the T_c measurements results of Nb with a dielectric cover from [59], we were able to experimentally determine a dielectric curing temperature that was compatible with our Nb metallization. We therefore present preliminary measurements of an embedded Nb microstrip transmission lines that had a ~10 μ m dielectric cover. This chapter concludes with a discussion of the impact of excess solder on the RF performance of these transmission lines. All of the RF measurements that are presented in this chapter were performed in liquid helium after performing an SOLR calibration [52]. We interfaced directly to these flex cables by end launch SMA connectors from Southwest Microwave. Two-wire DC resistance measurements of the transmission lines were undertaken in a pulse tube cryostat to confirm that the signal line and ground plane had fully transitioned to the superconducting state.

5.1 Simulation models

Microstrip transmission lines were modeled in Keysight ADS design tool using the built in circuit tool kit. A representative distributed element model for a Kapton microstrip implemented in ADS is shown in Figure 5.1. A transmission line can be divided into smaller subsections, as long as the length of the subsection is less than $\lambda/10$ at the highest simulation frequency [61]. In a microstrip, we used the effective dielectric constant (ϵ_{eff}) to calculate the guide wavelength (λ_g) at 14 GHz. The guide wavelength calculation is shown in Equation 5.1. The λ_g has to be used in the calculation because the fields are not completely enclosed in the dielectric. The effective dielectric constant in a microstrip was calculated from [36]. MLIN is a built-in microstrip element in ADS with a width (W_L) that was designed to give a 50 Ω characteristic impedance and with a length (L_L) that was less than $\lambda/10$. C_p was the parasitic capacitance due to excess solder. L_k was the kinetic inductance, which was incorporated as a series inductor. The kinetic inductance included both the signal and ground was lumped together and was iteratively fit through simulation.

$$\lambda_g = \frac{c}{f\sqrt{(\epsilon_{eff})}}\tag{5.1}$$



Figure 5.1: Distributed element model used in Keysight ADS schematic tool.



Figure 5.2: Simulation of a 5 cm long microstrip in ADS demonstrating the impact of kinetic inductance on S_{11} .

5.2 Kinetic inductance impact on the microwave performance

In the simulation models, we included an inductive element to account for the kinetic inductance of the Nb signal and ground. To obtain a better understanding of how the kinetic inductance impacted the S-parameter measurements, we simulated a 5 cm long microstrip on PI-2611 with the solder pads present. We swept the kinetic inductance from the ideal-case $(L_k = 0)$ to a high kinetic inductance film $(L_k = 1408 \text{ pH})$. Therefore, the impact on the reflection coefficient (S₁₁) was seen as a slightly longer transmission line, as shown in Figure 5.2. From the insertion loss (S₂₁) simulations shown in Figure 5.3, we note that as the kinetic inductance was increased, the peak loss was shifted to a lower frequency.



Figure 5.3: Simulation of a 5 cm long microstrip in ADS demonstrating the impact of kinetic inductance on S_{21} .

5.3 A 5 cm long Nb and Cu microstrip with a Ti adhesion layer on Kapton

We measured Nb and Cu microstrip lines with a 500 Å thick Ti adhesion layer on Kapton. We designed these transmission lines to have a 50 Ω characteristic impedance. Therefore a signal line width of 121 μ m was determined to meet these requirements. We demonstrated less than 0.1 dB of intrinsic loss up to 14 GHz for the Ti/Nb microstrip. The copper transmission line exhibited ~4.5 dB of loss.

DC measurements of both the signal and ground of the Ti/Nb microstrip were performed in a pulse tube (PT) cryostat to verify transition to the superconducting state by a two wire measurement setup. From the measurement results shown in Figure 5.4, we determined the transition temperature of both the signal and ground to be \sim 7.0 K and \sim 8.0 K, respectively. These T_c values were lower than bulk value of Nb, we attribute the decrease in T_c to surface imperfections in the Kapton film.

The simulation model used to match measurement is shown in Figure 5.5, for clarity only a portion of the circuit is shown. The RF measurement results and simulation results are shown in Figures 5.6 and 5.7. The measurement results indicate less than 1.0 dB of intrinsic loss on E-series Kapton up to 14 GHz with a reasonable match (S_{11}). A parasitic



Figure 5.4: Temperature vs. resistance measurement of the signal trace and ground plane of a Ti/Nb microstrip on Kapton.

capacitance of 90 fF was added to the model in order to account for the depth of the dips in S_{21} and S_{12} in the measurement. We note that without the capacitors at each end, the peak loss matches measurement, as expected. The kinetic inductance was accounted for as a series of 366 inductive elements with each inductive element having a value of 0.130 pH (L_k) and each transmission line segment had a length of 0.136 mm (L_L) with 367 segments.

The dielectric properties incorporated into the simulation were obtained from Cu and Nb resonators that were fabricated on the same E-series Kapton film. The dielectric properties of the Kapton film was reported by [3] at 4.2 K to have a dielectric constant(ϵ_r) of 3.126 and a loss tangent (tan δ) of 1.167× 10⁻³ at 14 GHz.

In Figure 5.8, we compared the insertion loss for Ti/Nb and Ti/Cu microstrip transmission lines. We conclude that there was a significant improvement in RF performance when using a Nb microstrip transmission when compared to normal-metal metallization under the same measurement conditions.



Figure 5.5: A Ti/Nb microstrip model on Tab-E Kapton implemented in ADS.



Figure 5.6: S_{11} , S_{22} measurements and simulation of a Ti/Nb microstrip on Kapton at 4.2 K.



Figure 5.7: S_{12} , S_{21} measurements of a Ti/Nb microstrip on Kapton at 4.2 K.



Figure 5.8: S_{21} measurement comparison of a Ti/Nb and Ti/Cu microstrip on Kapton.

5.4 A 5 cm long Nb microstrip on Kapton

Early in this work, we suspected that the 500 Å thick Ti layer might introduce additional RF loss in the microstrip transmission line. We therefore fabricated Nb only microstrip transmission lines on Kapton that omitted the Ti metallization. Process modifications were made to ensure adhesion of the Nb metallization onto the Kapton film. The simulation model that was used to fit to the measurement results is shown in Figure 5.9. The measurement results with simulation of the Nb microstrip are shown in Figures 5.10 and 5.11. We note that the Nb microstrip had less than -0.02 db intrinsic loss at the highest measurement frequency. We note that a 110 fF of capacitance was added to the model, due to excess solder. Overall, we saw an improvement in the intrinsic loss, although the excess solder had a larger negative impact on the RF performance.



Figure 5.9: A 5 cm long Nb microstrip model on Kapton implemented in ADS.



Figure 5.10: S_{11} and S_{22} measurement and simulation of a 5 cm long Nb microstrip on Kapton.



Figure 5.11: S_{21} and S_{12} measurement and simulation of a 5 cm long Nb microstrip on Kapton.

5.5 A 5 cm long Nb and Cu microstrip with a Ti adhesion layer on PI-2611

We present superconducting Ti/Nb microstrip and for comparison, a non-superconducting Ti/Cu microstrip, each with only 100 Å of Ti for adhesion, fabricated on HD MicroSystems PI-2611 film that was $\sim 20 \ \mu m$ thick. These samples were $2.5 \times$ thinner than the Kapton film and therefore the signal lines were significantly more narrow ($\sim 46 \ \mu m$) to match a 50 Ω impedance. Solder pads were included to be able to interface to the microstrip. What follows are the DC and RF measurement results of these transmission lines.

We studied the critical temperature (T_c) and current (I_c) of a Ti/Nb signal line with a width of 46 μ m. Two wire DC measurements were performed using SMA cables that were interfaced with the Ti/Nb microstrip cable. To measure the T_c of the Ti/Nb line, we used a closed cycle pulse tube (PT) based cryostat with cryogenic cables that can reach temperatures down to ~1.2 K. This measurement setup allowed us to determine the T_c of both the signal and ground plane. Resistance vs. temperature measurements for both the signal line and ground plane are shown in Figure 5.12. The T_c of the signal line and ground plane were measured as ~7.0 K and 8.0 K, respectively. These DC measurements clearly indicate both the signal and ground plane became superconducting. Critical current measurements of the signal line were measured as a function of temperature and are shown in Figure 5.13. We note the critical current decreased as the temperature increased, this is general trend that is consistent with theory. As the temperature increases, there are less Cooper pairs to carry this current, if enough current is applied, the Cooper pairs are broken and a resistance is observed. At the lowest measurement of temperature of 3.5 K, we observed a critical current of ~2.8 mA.

The RF circuit model implemented in ADS is shown in Figure 5.14. The transmission line was modeled as a series of transmission line elements (MLIN) with lengths of 0.732 mm. The kinetic inductance that was present in the Nb was fit in the simulation model with 65 inductive elements and the value of the kinetic inductance was iteratively found to be 779 pH by matching the location of the peaks in S_{21} . The kinetic inductance caused the location



Figure 5.12: Representative two wire resistance vs. temperature measurement of the signal (red) and ground (blue) as the Ti/Nb microstrip cools down in the pulse tube based cryostat.



Figure 5.13: Critical current measurement of a Ti/Nb microstrip with a 46 μ m wide signal line on PI-2611 as a function of temperature.



Figure 5.14: A 5 cm long Ti/Nb microstrip model on PI-2611 implemented in ADS.



Figure 5.15: Measurement and simulation of S_{11} and S_{22} of a 5 cm long Ti/Nb microstrip on PI-2611 at 4.2 K.

of the peaks in S_{21} to be shifted towards a lower frequency. The dielectric properties of the PI-2611 that were included in the model, such as the loss tangent $(\tan \delta)$ was measured by a Ti/Nb resonator that was in the same deposition run as the microstrip and the $\tan \delta$ was determined to be 4.7×10^{-4} at 14 GHz in liquid He [39]. The dielectric constant was measured with a Cu resonator in the frequency range of 2-14 GHz and a broadband fit was used to determine a dielectric constant of 3.2 in ADS schematic tool to avoid the influence of the kinetic inductance.

The measurement results and simulation are shown in Figures 5.15 and 5.16. From the S_{11} measurements, below 5 GHz, we see a fairly good match (S_{11}) that is below -10 dB. At higher frequencies, we attribute this mismatch to the solder pads and excess solder. The excess solder was modeled as an additional parasitic capacitance. Simulations that show a match to the insertion loss (S_{21}) measurement is shown in Figure 5.16.



Figure 5.16: Measurement and simulation of S_{21} and S_{12} of a 5 cm long Ti/Nb microstrip at 4.2 K on PI-2611.

To demonstrate the advantage of using superconducting metal on a thin-film dielectric, we compared a similarly construed microstrip transmission line comprised of Ti/Cu on PI-2611 with the same dimensions. The microstrip sample was measured in liquid He at 4.2 K. The simulation model is shown in Figure 5.17. The excess solder was modeled as a solder pad with a width of 260 μ m (compared to 120 μ m), which was an increase of 140 μ m (not unreasonable for a hand soldered connection). The measurement results and simulation fit are shown in Figure 5.18 and 5.19. We see a fairly good agreement to measurement. We then compared the insertion loss measurement (S₂₁) of the Cu microstrip to the Nb microstrip, as shown in Figure 5.20. We note a significant improvement in loss when using Nb. From the S₂₁ measurements of the microstrip lines, we note significantly higher loss for the Ti/Cu lines with same metal thickness and line width as the Ti/Nb microstrip.



Figure 5.17: A 5 cm long Ti/Cu microstrip model on PI-2611 implemented in ADS.



Figure 5.18: S_{11} , S_{22} measurement of a 5 cm long Ti/Cu microstrip on PI-2611 with simulation fit to S_{11} .



Figure 5.19: S_{21} , S_{12} measurement of a 5 cm long Ti/Cu microstrip on PI-2611 at 4.2 K with simulation fit to S_{21} .



Figure 5.20: S₂₁ measurement comparison of a Ti/Cu and Ti/Nb microstrip at 4.2 K.

5.6 A 25 cm long Nb microstrip on PI-2611

A meandered 25 cm long Nb microstrip line was fabricated on PI-2611 and measured in liquid He. The simulation model is shown in Figure 5.21. The measurement results and simulation are shown in the Figures 5.22 and 5.23. We note a few interesting results of this measurement. Foremost, the match is less than -10 dB below 4 GHz and at higher frequencies, we see the mismatches due to the solder pads and excess solder. The peak-loss of the transmission line (from simulation) is significantly less even at these lengths. The dominate loss mechanism was due to excess solder used to make contact to the edge launch connectors.

5.7 A 55 cm long Nb/Cu microstrip on PI-2611

Cladded Nb/Cu microstrip transmission lines were studied to protect the Nb signal trace. For this work, we studied a 200 nm thick Cu layer on a 250 nm Nb signal transmission



Figure 5.21: A 25 cm long Nb microstrip model on PI-2611 implemented in ADS.



Figure 5.22: S_{11} and S_{22} measurements and simulation of a ~25 cm long Nb microstrip on PI-2611 at 4.2 K.

line. Meanwhile, the ground plane was deposited with Nb only. This was done purposefully to ensure the loss contribution was primarily from the signal line. The results are shown in Figures 5.24 and 5.25. Superconductors with a normal metal layer is not a fundamentally new idea. Significant research at what occurs at this interface has been previously under taken by many researchers [62–64]. To our knowledge, cladded Nb microstrip transmission lines have not been previously reported. At present, simulation models to fit the data have not been developed and are the focus of future work. None the less, we report early measurement results of a 200 nm Cu cladded Nb microstrip. We note the S-parameter measurements of S_{11} and S_{22} have a significant mismatch between the two ends. We attribute this to uneven solder at each end of the microstrip transmission line. The insertion loss measurements (S_{21}) clearly show an additional loss with oscillations of the solder capacitance shadowed by the loss of the Cu. More experimental work would need to be studied in order to correlate the copper thickness to the impact on loss of the transmission line samples.



Figure 5.23: Measurement and simulation of S_{12} and S_{21} of a ~ 25 cm long Nb microstrip on PI-2611 4.2 K.

5.8 A 15 cm long Nb/Al microstrip on PI-2611

Nb with a 20 nm thick Al metallization was also studied. Like the Cu metallization, the Al layer was used to protect the underlying Nb from mechanical fatigue and from surface oxidation. Unlike Cu, Al can become superconducting at temperatures below 1.2 K. Therefore, the aluminum can help the Nb thermalize at higher temperatures (above 1.2 K). At temperatures below 1.2 K, the Al would become superconducting and the flex cable would be dominated by the losses in the excess solder and interface pad. The measurement results at 4.2 K are shown in Figures 5.26 and 5.27. We note the 15 cm long line, the peak loss is nearly lossless at the lowest frequency range of 10 MHz to ~4 GHz, above that we note the decrease in S_{21} with a peak loss at 14 GHz of ~2.0 dB. More work would be required to correlate the additional loss introduced by Al metallization.



Figure 5.24: S_{11} and S_{22} measurement of a Nb/Cu microstrip transmission line measured at 4.2 K.



Figure 5.25: S_{21} and S_{12} measurement of a Nb/Cu microstrip transmission line measured at 4.2 K.


Figure 5.26: S_{11} and S_{22} measurement of a ~15 cm long Nb/Al microstrip transmission line at 4.2 K.



Figure 5.27: S_{21} and S_{12} measurement of a ~15 cm long Nb/Al microstrip transmission line at 4.2 K.

5.9 A 25 cm long embedded Nb microstrip on PI-2611

An embedded Nb microstrip that was 25 cm in length was fabricated with a dielectric cover of ~11 μ m thick was measured in liquid He. The top embedding dielectric layer that contacted the Nb signal line was cured at a temperature of 225 °C to reduce the degradation of the Nb film quality. This temperature was experimentally determined to have the least impact on the Nb metallization. Measurements of S₁₁ and S₂₂ show a significant disparity between the two ends of the transmission lines. We suspect the difference is due to solder non-uniformity. The simulation model implemented to model the embedded microstrip is shown in Figure 5.28. The measurement results fitted to S₁₁ and S₂₁ fit are shown in Figures 5.29 and 5.30. Although the measurements suggest we have a higher loss with a low-cure dielectric, we cannot conclusively rule out Nb variation and/or changes in the quality of the Nb after curing. More work is required in this area to understand the impact of the dielectric curing on the RF performance of these transmission lines

5.10 Impact of excess solder on the microwave performance

Connections to microstrip samples were made through the use of high purity In solder applied to pads that had metallization that was compatible with the solder. At present, the In was applied manually and heated with a soldering iron, which introduced solder volume variability and degradation of the microwave performance with the excess solder. In our simulation models, we have included a parasitic capacitance (C_p) that we stated was due to excess solder. We verified the excess solder can be modeled as a parallel capacitance by removing the excess solder on a 15 cm long Nb only microstrip. Microscopy images of the microstrip sample under study are shown in Figure 5.31. We carefully removed the excess solder with a heated soldering iron and tweezers. After the excess solder was removed is shown in Figure 5.31b. Measurements before and after removing the excess solder are shown in Figure 5.32 and 5.33. The simulation models match the measurement, which indicated a



Figure 5.28: A ${\sim}25~{\rm cm}$ long embedded Nb microstrip model on PI-2611 implemented in ADS.



Figure 5.29: S_{11} and S_{22} measurement and simulation of a ~25 cm long embedded Nb microstrip transmission line 4.2 K.



Figure 5.30: S_{21} and S_{12} measurement and simulation of a ~ 25 cm long embedded Nb microstrip transmission line 4.2 K.



Figure 5.31: Microscopy images of the excess solder on a ~ 15 cm long Nb microstrip cable (a) as assembled and (b) after excess solder removal

decrease in capacitance from an initial 250 fF to 124fF. Therefore we confirmed that including this additional capacitance did accurately represent the excess solder.



Figure 5.32: S_{11} and S_{22} measurement of a ${\sim}15~{\rm cm}$ long Nb microstrip transmission line at 4.2 K



Figure 5.33: S_{21} and S_{12} measurement of a ${\sim}15~{\rm cm}$ long Nb microstrip transmission line at 4.2 K

Chapter 6

Conclusion

We presented superconducting Nb microstrip flex cables on Kapton and spin-on polyimide for use in cryogenic systems. We successfully implemented simulation models that predicted the RF performance of these microstrip flex cables at 4.2 K in liquid He. RF measurement results of these transmission lines was made possible through the implementation of RF standards (open, short, load, and thru) assembled on SMA edge launch connectors. We used an SOLR calibration performed in liquid He with the standards that we assembled to reduce the errors associated with the network analyzer, SMA cables and connectors. Without proper calibration standards that would work in liquid helium, the RF performance of the fabricated flex cables could not have been reported.

We measured 5 cm long Ti/Nb and Nb microstrip transmission lines on E-series Kapton that showed less than -0.1 dB of intrinsic loss up to 14 GHz. The main observable difference between the two samples ere the dips (valleys) in S_{21} that were caused by excess solder. We also fabricated Ti/Cu microstrip transmission lines that exhibited less than -3.5 dB of loss. From these measurements, it is apparent the benefit of using superconducting metallization for transmission lines on Kapton.

We also built microstrip transmission lines on spin-on polyimide, PI-2611, that was 20 μ m thick. We fabricated and measured microstrip samples that were up to 55 cm in length. We meandered the signal line in a serpentine pattern to study longer transmission lines that were spaced closely together on a 100 mm diameter Si wafer. We studied Ti/Nb, Nb, and embedded Nb microstrip transmission lines of varying lengths. We were unable to observe a performance difference between Ti/Nb and Nb microstrip transmission lines due to the solder pad and excess solder that introduced a mismatch that shadowed any minute differences.

Despite these non-idealities present in the sample, measurements of these microstrip flex cables indicated less than -0.1 dB of intrinsic loss up to 14 GHz at 4.2 K. Measurements of a \sim 25 cm long Nb microstrip samples also indicated similar intrinsic loss in the same frequency range. For comparison, we measured a 5 cm long Ti/Cu microstrip transmission line that exhibited less than -9.0 dB of intrinsic loss up to 14 GHz in liquid He. Meanwhile, a 25 cm long embedded microstrip samples exhibited less than -3 dB of intrinsic loss up to 14 GHz. Therefore, embedded and non-embedded microstrip transmission lines exhibited less to 14 GHz. Therefore, the same samples are the transmission lines at 4.2 K than similarly construed Ti/Cu transmission lines.

We also presented measurement results of cladded, Nb/Cu and Nb/Al microstrip samples at 4.2 K. RF measurement results of these samples indicated an increase in RF loss. A \sim 55 cm long Nb with 200 nm of Cu microstrip measured at 4.2 K exhibited less than -20 dB of loss up to 14 GHz. While a 20 nm Al metallization on Nb that was \sim 15 cm long exhibited less than -0.2 dB of loss in the same frequency range. Although more extensive work in this area needs to be undertaken to fully understand the impact the cladded metallization has on the RF performance

To our knowledge, we were the first to report RF measurements of a superconducting Nb microstrip on free-standing Kapton and PI-2611 polyimide at liquid He temperatures. This work is also first to report RF measurements of embedded microstrip and cladded Nb microstrip structures. The initial measurements show promising results with significant room for improvement. Our fabrication processes were based on traditional clean room methods, which naturally lends it self to creating microwave structures on larger size substrates to increase yield. The possibility of several transmission lines on a single flex cable is also realizable with the current methods outlined in this work.

Chapter 7

Future Work

The continuation of this work can branch into several different directions that would demonstrate even further the potential of these RF flex cables. Future work would involve the fabrication of multiple RF signal lines on a single flex cable. Therefore, cross-talk measurements would provide insight into the isolation between adjacent signal lines. Microstrip transmission flex cables could easily be made with multiple signal lines that are spaced at least 240 μ m or 120 μ m (2× the line width) for Kapton and PI-2611, respectively, which would reduce the far-end cross-talk [65]. First attempts should involve only two signal lines; the edge-launch connectors have a significant footprint which would limit the number of signal lines that could fit onto a single 100 mm diameter Si wafer.

An alternative method that could also be implemented would involve the use of a PCB with the flex cable flip-chip bonded onto designated pads, similar to the work by Tighe et al. [32]. Contact to the microstrip ground plane could be made with a clamp, that would be machined out of a bulk metal such as aluminum. Reduced size RF connectors can also be employed on the PCB to increase the signal line density with 0.9 mm connectors from Southwest Microwave that can be operated from DC to 67 GHz¹.

Stripline flex cables on PI-2611 could also be attempted again by curing the dielectric at a temperature of 225 °C, which was shown to work in an embedded microstrip structure. A few key processing steps would have to be revisited, specifically the dry etching of conformal vias in the dielectric. Dry etching with just an O_2 plasma has been shown to create a residue layer that is difficult to remove without the addition of a fluorinated gas, such as CF_4 during the etch process [41]. This CF_4 gas also can etch the Nb, if it is not protected with an

¹http://mpd.southwestmicrowave.com/products/family.php?family=297

etch-stop layer [66]. Therefore, a protective metal, such as chromium (of a thickness that would need to be determined) on selected regions would need to be used [66] to protect the Nb during the etching of the dielectric. Since there would significant processing involved to make a stripline with vias in PI-2611, an alternative spin-on dielectric such as HD-4100 [67] could be used. HD-4100 is a spin-on photo-imageable dielectric that could be used to define vias without the need to dry-etch. Via chain structures could then be used to verify the via profile (i.e. conformal) and step coverage of the sputter deposited Nb.

A significant effort should also be made to focus on the application of a controlled solder volume on the fabricated flex cables. Methods for uniform indium plating on a Ti/Cu seed layer has been shown on 3 inch wafers [40], which could be applied to our own fabrication processes. We would need to verify what impact, if any, the plating seed layer would have on a niobium film. A simple test would involve plating Cu to the desired thickness and pattern, plating indium on this pattern and etching away the seed layer, this would help verify that these steps did not impact Nb superconductivity.

In this work, we briefly studied cladded metallization consisting of a normal metal on superconducting Nb. There was a proximity effect between the Nb and normal metal due to Andreev reflections [64] that could be studied in greater detail. Our RF measurements on Nb/Cu and Nb/Al films suggest an increase microwave loss, but more work is required to study these metallization (e.g. thinner metallization and lower temperatures). Measurements of the kinetic inductance by Claassen [63] suggest that there are changes in the kinetic inductance by cladding the Nb with a normal conductor. Therefore, creating microstrip transmission lines with varying thickness of the normal metallization and correlating it to RF measurements would provide useful information for bimetallic RF structures. Modeling efforts could then follow from measurement data.

Bibliography

- A. I. Harris, M. Sieth, J. M. Lau, S. E. Church, L. A. Samoska, and K. Cleary, "Note: Cryogenic microstripline-on-Kapton microwave interconnects," *Review of Scientific Instruments*, vol. 83, 2012. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.4737185
- [2] P. McGarey, H. Mani, C. Wheeler, and C. Groppi, "A 16-channel flex circuit for cryogenic microwave signal transmission," in *Proc. Of SPIE, Millimeter, Submillimeter,* and Far-inFrared Detectors and Instrumentation for Astronomy VII, W. S. Holland and J. Zmuidzinas, Eds., vol. 9153, jul 2014, p. 91532F. [Online]. Available: http://proceedings.spiedigitallibrary.org/proceeding.aspx?doi=10.1117/12.2055472
- [3] R. Bai, G. A. Hernandez, Y. Cao, A. J. Sellers, C. D. Ellis, D. B. Tuckerman, and M. C. Hamilton, "Cryogenic microwave characterization of kapton polyimide using superconducting resonators," in *International Microwave Symposium (IMS)*, San Francisco, 2016.
- [4] A. Kadin, R. Webber, and D. Gupta, "Current Leads and Optimized Thermal Packaging for Superconducting Systems on Multistage Cryocoolers," *IEEE Transactions* on Applied Superconductivity, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 975–978, 2007. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber=4277480
- [5] A. L. Woodcraft, G. Ventura, V. Martelli, and W. S. Holland, "Thermal conductance at millikelvin temperatures of woven ribbon cable with phosphor-bronze clad superconducting wires," *Cryogenics*, vol. 50, no. 8, pp. 465 – 468, 2010. [Online]. Available: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0011227510001220
- [6] J. Ekin, Experimental Techniques: Cryostat Design, Material Properties and Superconductor Critical-Current Testing, 1st ed. New York: Oxford University Press, 2006.
- [7] L. Ranzani, L. Spietz, Z. Popovic, and J. Aumentado, "Two-port microwave calibration at millikelvin temperatures," *Review of Scientific Instruments*, vol. 84, no. 3, 2013.
- [8] J.-H. Yeh and S. M. Anlage, "In situ broadband cryogenic calibration for two-port superconducting microwave resonators," *Review of Scientific Instruments*, vol. 84, no. 3, 2013. [Online]. Available: http://scitation.aip.org/content/aip/journal/rsi/84/ 3/10.1063/1.4797461
- D. Finnemore, T. Stromberg, and C. Swenson, "Superconducting Properties of High-Purity Niobium," *Physical Review*, vol. 149, no. 1, pp. 231–243, sep 1966.
 [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.149.231

- [10] M. David Henry, S. Wolfley, T. Monson, B. G. Clark, E. Shaner, and R. Jarecki, "Stress dependent oxidation of sputtered niobium and effects on superconductivity," *Journal* of Applied Physics, vol. 115, no. 8, 2014.
- [11] R. Banerjee, E. A. Sperling, G. B. Thompson, H. L. Fraser, S. Bose, and P. Ayyub, "Lattice expansion in nanocrystalline niobium thin films," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 82, no. 24, pp. 4250–4252, 2003.
- [12] D. Gerstenberg and P. M. Hall, "Superconducting Thin Films of Niobium, Tantalum, Tantalum Nitride, Tantalum Carbide, and Niobium Nitride," *Journal of The Electrochemical Society*, vol. 111, no. 8, p. 936, 1964.
- [13] J. Eck. (2007) Type 1 superconductors and a periodic chart comparison. [Online]. Available: http://www.superconductors.org/type1.htm
- [14] J. I. Gittleman and B. Rosenblum, "Microwave Properties of Superconductors," Proceedings of the IEEE, vol. 52, no. 10, pp. 1138–1147, 1964.
- [15] M. Tinkham, Introduction to Superconductivity: Second Edition, ser. Dover Books on Physics. Dover Publications, 2004. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.com/ books?id=k6AO9nRYbioC
- Microwave "Superconductors Cryogenics Subsys-|16| S. М. Anlage, and in tems," College Park, 2002.[Online]. Available: http://anlage.umd.edu/ AnlageASC2002SCandCryoMicroSubTutorialTalk.pdf
- [17] C. R. Nave. (1998) Characteristic lengths in superconductors. [Online]. Available: http://hyperphysics.phy-astr.gsu.edu/hbase/solids/chrlen.html
- [18] B. W. Maxfield and W. L. McLean, "Superconducting penetration depth of niobium," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 139, pp. A1515–A1522, Aug 1965. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.139.A1515
- [19] W. R. Hudson and R. J. Jirberg, "Superconducting properties of niobium," NASA Lewis Research Center, Cleveland, Ohio, 44135, NASA technical note TN D-6380, jun 1971.
- [20] C. Passow, "Explanation of the low-temperature, high-frequency residual surface resistance of superconductors," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 28, pp. 427–431, Feb 1972.
 [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.28.427
- [21] C. K. Koughia. (2015) Drude model of electrical conduction. [Online]. Available: http://kasap13.usask.ca/ee271/files/05_conductivity-08.pdf
- [22] R. Meservey and P. M. Tedrow, "Measurements of the kinetic inductance of superconducting linear structures," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 2028–2034, 1969. [Online]. Available: http://scitation.aip.org/content/aip/journal/ jap/40/5/10.1063/1.1657905

- [23] S. M. Anlage, H. J. Snortland, and M. R. Beasley, "A current controlled variable delay superconducting transmission line," *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 1388–1391, Mar 1989.
- [24] H. J. Van Weers, G. Kunkel, M. a. Lindeman, and M. Leeman, "Niobium flex cable for low temperature high density interconnects," *Cryogenics*, vol. 55-56, pp. 1–4, 2013.
 [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cryogenics.2012.10.006
- [25] M. P. Bruijn, A. J. Linden, M. L. Ridder, and H. J. Weers, "FDM Readout Assembly with Flexible, Superconducting Connection to Cryogenic kilo-Pixel TES Detectors," *Journal of Low Temperature Physics*, pp. 1–5, 2015. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10909-015-1360-4
- [26] C. S. Yung and B. H. Moeckly, "Magnesium Diboride Flexible Flat Cables for Cryogenic Electronics," *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 107–110, Jun. 2011. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/ epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber=5613217
- [27] R. J. Webber, J. Delmas, and B. H. Moeckly, "Ultra-low heat leak YBCO superconducting leads for cryoelectronic applications," *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 999–1002, 2009. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TASC.2009.2017768
- [28] C. G. Pappas, "Towards a 100000 TES Focal Plane Array: A Robust, High-Density, Superconducting Cable Interface," *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 1–5, June 2015.
- [29] C. G.Pappas, "Assembly, Characterization, and Operation of large-scale TES detector arrays for ACTPol," Ph.D. dissertation, Princeton University, January 2016.
- [30] Asahi Glass, "Processing Guidelines for Asahi Glass ALX Dielectric Polymer," Asahi Glass, Tech. Rep., 2010. [Online]. Available: http://agcem.com/index.php/ advanced-packaging/4-low-k-dielectrics
- [31] HD MicroSystems, "Product Bulletin PI-2600 Series Low Stress Applications," pp. 1–4, 2009.
- [32] T. S. Tighe, G. Akerling, and A. D. Smith, "Cryogenic packaging for multi-ghz electronics," *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 3173–3176, June 1999.
- [33] A. Huffman, J. Piascik, and P. Garrou, "Application and evaluation of AL-X polymer dielectric for flip chip and wafer level package bumping," in *Electronic Components and Technology Conference*, 2009. ECTC 2009. 59th, May 2009, pp. 1682–1689.
- [34] G. Parés, C. Karoui, A. Zaid, F. Dosseul, M. Feron, A. Attard, G. Klug, H. Luesebrink, K. Martinschitz, N. Launay, S. Belhenini, and G. Simon, "Full integration of a 3D demonstrator with TSV first interposer, ultra thin die

stacking and wafer level packaging," in 2013 IEEE 63rd Electronic Components and Technology Conference. IEEE, may 2013, pp. 305–306. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber=6575588

- [35] "6.777j/2.751j material property database," http://www.mit.edu/~6.777/matprops/ polyimide.htm, accessed: 2003-10-06.
- [36] D. M. Pozar, *Microwave Engineering*, 4th ed. New Jersey: Wiley, 2012.
- [37] P. Garrou, "Polymer dielectrics for multichip module packaging," Proceedings of the IEEE, vol. 80, no. 12, pp. 1942–1954, Dec 1992.
- [38] W. Christiaens, T. Loeher, B. Pahl, M. Feil, B. Vandevelde, and J. Vanfleteren, "Embedding and assembly of ultrathin chips in multilayer flex boards," *Circuit World*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 3–8, 2008. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/ 03056120810896209
- [39] D. B. Tuckerman, M. C. Hamilton, D. J. Reilly, R. Bai, G. A. Hernandez, J. M. Hornibrook, J. A. Sellers, and C. D. Ellis, "Flexible superconducting Nb transmission lines on thin film polyimide for quantum computing applications," *Superconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 29, no. 8, p. 084007, 2016. [Online]. Available: http://stacks.iop.org/0953-2048/29/i=8/a=084007
- [40] Y. Tian, C. Liu, D. Hutt, and B. Stevens, "Electrodeposition of indium for bump bonding," in 2008 58th Electronic Components and Technology Conference, May 2008, pp. 2096–2100.
- [41] B. Mimoun, H. T. M. Pham, V. Henneken, and R. Dekker, "Residue-free plasma etching of polyimide coatings for small pitch vias with improved step coverage," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B*, vol. 31, no. 2, 2013. [Online]. Available: http://scitation.aip.org/content/avs/journal/jvstb/31/2/10.1116/1.4788795
- [42] S. Metz, A. Bertsch, and P. Renaud, "Partial release and detachment of microfabricated metal and polymer structures by anodic metal dissolution," *Journal* of Microelectromechanical Systems, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 383–391, Apr. 2005. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber=1416914
- [43] K. L. G. Geerlings, "Improving Coherence of Superconducting Qubits and Resonators," Ph.D. dissertation, Yale University, 2013. [Online]. Available: http://qulab.eng.yale. edu/documents/theses/Kurtis{_}ImprovingCoherenceSuperconductingQubits.pdf
- [44] Agilent. (2004) Network analyzer basics. [Online]. Available: http://cp.literature. agilent.com/litweb/pdf/5965-7917E.pdf
- [45] Keysight. (2002) Measurement errors. [Online]. Available: http://na.support.keysight. com/pna/help/latest/S3_Cals/Errors.htm
- [46] —, "Keysight 85052D 3.5 mm Economy Calibration Kit," Keysight, Tech. Rep., 2014.

- [47] G. Engen and C. Hoer, "Thru-Reflect-Line: An Improved Technique for Calibrating the Dual Six-Port Automatic Network Analyzer," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory* and Techniques, vol. 27, no. 12, pp. 987–993, dec 1979.
- [48] J. W. Smuk, M. G. Stubbs, and J. S. Wight, "Vector measurements of microwave devices at cryogenic temperatures," *Microwave Symposium Digest* ..., pp. 1195–1198, 1989.
 [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/xpls/abs{_}all.jsp?arnumber=38938
- [49] J. L. Cano de Diego, "Cryogenic Technology in the Microwave Engineering: Application to MIC and MMIC Very Low Noise Amplifier Design," Ph.D. dissertation, Cantabria, 2010.
- [50] J. C. Booth, D. H. Wu, and S. M. Anlage, "A broadband method for the measurement of the surface impedance of thin films at microwave frequencies," *Review of Scientific Instruments*, vol. 65, no. 6, p. 2082, 1994. [Online]. Available: http://scitation.aip.org/content/aip/journal/rsi/65/6/10.1063/1.1144816
- [51] M. Stutzman and M. Lee, "Broadband calibration of long lossy microwave transmission lines at cryogenic temperatures using nichrome films," *Review of Scientific Instruments*, vol. 71, no. 12, pp. 4596–4599, 2000. [Online]. Available: http://link.aip.org/link/?RSINAK/71/4596/1
- [52] A. Ferrero and U. Pisani, "Two-port network analyzer calibration using an unknown 'thru'," *IEEE Microwave and Guided Wave Letters*, vol. 2, no. 12, pp. 505–507, dec 1992.
- [53] Agilent Technologies Inc., Modern Measurement Techniques for Testing Advanced Military Communications and Radars, 2nd ed. Agilent Technologies Inc., 2006.
- [54] G. A. Hernandez, R. Bai, Y. Cao, J. A. Sellers, C. D. Ellis, D. B. Tuckerman, and M. C. Hamilton, "Microwave performance of niobium/kapton superconducting flexible cables," *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, In review.
- [55] L. Thilly, F. Lecouturier, G. Coffe, and S. Askenazy, "Recent progress in the development of ultra high strength "continuous" Cu/Nb and Cu/Ta conductors for non-destructive pulsed fields higher than 80 T," *IEEE transactions on applied superconductivity*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 1181–1184, 2002. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TASC.2002.1018612
- [56] A. Fartash, M. Grimsditch, E. E. Fullerton, and I. K. Schuller, "Breakdown of Poisson's effect in Nb/Cu superlattices," *Physical Review B*, vol. 47, no. 19, p. 12813, 1993. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.47.12813
- [57] H. Oguro, S. Awaji, K. Watanabe, M. Sugimoto, and H. Tsubouchi, "Prebending effect for mechanical and superconducting properties of Nb-rod-processed Cu–Nb internalreinforced wires," *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 1–4, 2014. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TASC.2013.2292507

- [58] S. Zou, R. Bai, G. A. Hernandez, V. Gupta, Y. Cao, J. A. Sellers, C. D. Ellis, D. B. Tuckerman, and M. C. Hamilton, "Influence of fatigue and bending strain on critical currents of niobium superconducting flexible cables containing Ti and Cu interfacial layers," *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, In review.
- [59] V. Gupta, J. A. Sellers, C. D. Ellis, S. Zou, G. A. Hernandez, R. Bai, Y. Cao, D. B. Tuckerman, and M. C. Hamilton, "Preserving Nb Superconducvity in Thin Film Flexible Structures," *Additional Conferences (Device Packaging, HiTEC, HiTEN, & CICMT)*, vol. 2016, no. DPC, pp. 002075–002094, 2016. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.4071/2016DPC-THA32
- [60] R. Bai, G. A. Hernandez, Y. Cao, J. A. Sellers, C. D. Ellis, D. B. Tuckerman, and M. C. Hamilton, "Microwave Loss Measurements of Copper-Clad Superconducting Niobium Microstrip Resonators on Flexible Polyimide Substrates," *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, In review.
- [61] J. A. Hall, Stephen H., Hall, Garrett W., McCall, High-Speed Digitial System Design- A Handbook of Interconnect Theory and Design Practices, 1st ed. New York: Wiley-IEEE Press, 2000.
- [62] W. L. McMillan, "Theory of superconductor normal-metal interfaces," Phys. Rev., vol. 175, pp. 559–568, Nov 1968. [Online]. Available: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRev.175.559
- [63] J. H. Claassen, J. E. Evetts, R. E. Somekh, and Z. H. Barber, "Observation of the superconducting proximity effect from kinetic-inductance measurements," *Phys. Rev. B*, vol. 44, pp. 9605–9608, Nov 1991. [Online]. Available: http: //link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevB.44.9605
- [64] B. Pannetier and H. Courtois, "Andreev reflection and proximity effect," Journal of Low Temperature Physics, vol. 118, no. 5, pp. 599–615, 2000. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1004635226825
- [65] E. Bogatin, "Decreasing Far-End Cross Talk," in Signal Integrity: Simplified, 2004, pp. 436–437.
- [66] T. Harada, K. Gamo, and S. Namba, "Dry Etching of Nb and Fabrication of Nb Variable-Thickness-Bridges," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 20, no. 1, p. 259, 1981. [Online]. Available: http://stacks.iop.org/1347-4065/20/i=1/a=259
- [67] HD4100 Series, HD MicroSystems, October 2014, product bulletin.

Appendices

Material type	Company	Model/Product	Notes
Dielectric	Asahi Glass	AL-X2030/2025	Material name change to 2030 from 2025
Dielectric	HD MicroSystems	PI-2611	not photoimageable
Kapton	Dupont	EN	American DuraFilm
AlN	Stellar		Double side polished
Metals	Kamis Incorporated	Cu, Ti, Nb target	
Wafers	SiWafers	www.Siwafers.com	
Chemicals	Sigma-Aldrich/VWR	Sodium Chloride	
Al Etch	Transene Type-A		
Pogo Pins	Everett Charles Technologies	HPA-0J	

Table 1: List of Suppliers

Material type	Company	Model/Product	Notes
Dielectric	Asahi Glass	AL-X2030/2025	Material name change to 2030 from 2025
Dielectric	HD MicroSystems	PI-2611	not photoimageable
Kapton	Dupont	EN	American DuraFilm
AlN	Stellar		Double side polished
Metals	Kamis Incorporated	Cu, Ti, Nb target	
Wafers	SiWafers	www.Siwafers.com	
Chemicals	Sigma-Aldrich/VWR	Sodium Chloride	
Al Etch	Transene Type-A		
Pogo Pins	Everett Charles Technologies	HPA-0J	

Table 2: List of Equipment Used

Appendix A

Microwave switches

In this chapter, we provide detailed information of how the microwave switches that are at the end of the rod (cold side) are interfaced to a computer running LabVIEW. We used a DB25 (25 pin) female connector to interface to the DC lines that control the microwave switches. Pins 1 through 16 are the only pins that are currently being used. The pin out profile of the DB25 connector is shown in Figures A.1.

The top of the rod has a female DB25 connector which is interfaced to a breakout box that has the same connector type with a male-male DB25 cable. The breakout box is then connected to a relay that allows us to select a specific output. The wiring map of the DB25 to the relay and switch is detailed in Table A.1. We used lakeshore quadwire phosphor bronze wires that have 4 wires bundled together. Each switch has 8 different connections, therefore two wires (8 leads total) per switch. Switch 1 has two wires and were labeled (1.1)and (1.2) for switch 1 cable 1, the same nomenclature was followed for switch 2.



DB25 connector with pinouts

Figure A.1: DB25 connector with pin 1 labeled for reference. The breakout box uses a total of 16 inputs. Inputs are numbered for clarity.

DB25	Relay	Switch	wire_number (color)
1	1	GND	1_1 (green)
2	2	1	$1_{-1} (red)$
3	3	2	1_1 (black)
4	4	3	1_1 (brown)
5	5	4	$1_2 (red)$
6	6	5	1_2 (green)
7	7	6	1_2 (black)
8	8	RESET	1_2 (brown)
		Switch 2	
9	1	GND	2_{-1} (green)
10	9	1	2_{-1} (red)
11	10	2	2_1 (black)
12	11	3	2_1 (brown)
13	12	4	$2_2 (red)$
14	13	5	2_2 (green)
15	14	6	2_2 (black)
16	15	RESET	2_2 (brown)

Table A.1: Pin outs and wiring for two radiall switches.



Figure A.2: Microwave switch interface equipment (a) breakout box on the rod (b) relay and power supply (c) breakout box that interfaces with the relay (d) rod with the SMA cables and microwave switches is shown.

Appendix B

Fabrication travelers

In this chapter, the fabrication processes are described in greater detail. Each step is outlined with the appropriate step (e.g. bake, spin-on, etc.).

Step No.	Process	Parameters	Remarks
		Dielectric spin-on steps to achieve 20 μm	
1	Release Layer	a. 2 minutes of ion milling at 1 kV b. 250 Å Cr, 500 Å Al	
2	Dehydration Bake	Vacuum oven at 110°C for 20 minutes	
3	Adhesion Promoter	VM652. Spin speed 1. 500 RPM $a=500 \text{ rpm/s}$	
		2. $3000 \text{ RPM a} = 1000 \text{ rpm/s t} = 30s$	
4	Soft Bake	hotplate bake at $120^{\circ}C t=60s$	
Ŀ	PI Spin	1. 500 rpm $a=500$ rpm/s $t=5s$, 2. 1600 RPM $a=1000$ RPMs/s $t=30s$	
9	Bake	hotplate bake at 120° C t=5 mins.	
7	Cure	Profile 2 (350°C Cure)	
×	Plasma	150 W for 25 seconds	
6	Dehydration Bake	Vacuum oven at 110°C for 20 minutes	
10	Adhesion Promoter	VM652. Spin speed 1. 500 RPM $a=500 \text{ rpm/s}$	
		2. $3000 \text{ RPM a} = 1000 \text{ rpm/s t} = 30s$	
11	Soft Bake	hotplate bake at $120^{\circ}C t=60s$	
12	PI Spin	1. 500 rpm $a=500$ rpm/s $t=5s$, 2. 1600 RPM $a=1000$ RPMs/s $t=30s$	
13	Bake	hotplate bake at 120° C t=5 mins.	
14	Cure	Profile 2 (350°C Cure)	
		Signal Line Definition	
15	Dehydration Bake	Vacuum Oven at 110°C for 20 minutes	
13	HMDS Coat	Place in HMDS beaker for 10 minutes	HMDS is found in an amber bottle
14	PR	AZ-9245: spin speed 1. 1700 RPM t=5s, a=500 RPM/s	
		2. 2200 RPM t=25s a= 1000 RPM/s	
15	Soft Bake	hotplate bake at $110^{\circ}C t=90s$	
16	Mask Alignment	Exposure time: 25 seconds Alignment gap: $25\mu m$	Mask:M1
17	Development	3:1 DI Water: AZ 400k. Agitate solution prior to placing	
		wafer in solution. Rinse in DI water and N ₂ blow dry	
		Ratio: 150 mL of DI water, 50 mL Developer	
			2 minute development time
18	Nb Deposition	a. 2 minutes of ion milling at 1 kV. b. $P = 1 \text{ kW/6.1 mTorr/30 minutes}$	
19	Lift-off	Rinse in acetone/methanol/IPA	

Table B.1: Microstrip Traveler 1/2

Step No.	Process	Parameters	Remarks
		Under Bump Metallization	
20	Dehydration Bake	Vacuum oven at 110°C for 20 minutes	
21	HMDS Coat	Place in HMDS beaker for 10 minutes	HMDS is found in an amber bottle
22	PR	AZ-9245: spin speed 1. 1700 RPM $t=5s$, $a=500 \text{ RPM/s}$	
		2. 2200 RPM t=25s a= 1000 RPM/s	
23	Soft Bake	hotplate bake at $110^{\circ}C t=90s$	
24	Mask Alignment	Exposure time: 25 seconds Alignment gap: $25\mu m$	Mask:UBM
25	Development	3:1 DI Water: AZ 400k. Agitate solution prior to placing	
		wafer in solution. Rinse in DI water and N ₂ blow dry	
		Ratio: 150 mL of DI water, 50 mL Developer	
			2 minute development time
26	UBM	a. 2 minutes of ion milling at 1 kV. b. Ti: 500 Å($2\text{\AA}/\text{s}$), Cu: 5000Å($2\text{\AA}/\text{s}$)	
27	Lift-off	Rinse in acetone/methanol/IPA	
		Release Sample & Ground Plane Metallization	
28	PR	AZ-9245: spin speed 1. 1700 RPM $t=5s$, $a=500 \text{ RPM/s}$	
		2. 2200 RPM t=25s a= 1000 RPM/s	
29	Soft Bake	hotplate bake at $110^{\circ}C t=90s$	
30	Dice samples	Use profile ANG/5inch profile	
31	Salt Solution	2M (Moles/L) solution of NaCl based on 1L of H20.	
		(a) Pour 500 mL of DI water into beaker (b) 117 gramsof NaCl.	
		Pour into beaker and fill with water until 1L	
32	Sample Release	Connect ground to the metal mesh, and apply 0.6 V to the sample	
33	Surface clean	rinse in acetone/methanol/IPA, followed by DI water	
34	Backside Sample	Mount sample onto a wafer with the backside exposed	
35	Nb Deposition	a. 2 minutes of ion milling at 1 kV. b. $P=1 \text{ kW}/6.1 \text{ mTorr}/30 \text{ minutes}$	

Table B.2: Microstrip Traveler 2/2

Step No.	Process	Parameters	Remarks
		Dielectric spin-on steps to achieve 20 $\mu {\rm m}$	
1	Release Layer	a. 2 minutes of ion milling at 1 kV b. 250 Å Cr, 500 Å Al	
2	Dehydration Bake	Vacuum oven at 110° C for 20 minutes	
3	Adhesion Promoter	VM652. Spin speed 1. 500 RPM $a=500 \text{ rpm/s}$	
		2. 3000 RPM $a=1000 \text{ rpm/s } t=30s$	
4	Soft Bake	hotplate bake at 120° C t=60s	
IJ	PI Spin	1. 500 rpm a=500 rpm/s t=5s, 2. 1600 RPM a=1000 RPMs/s t=30s	
9	Bake	hotplate bake at 120° C t=5 mins.	
7	Cure	Profile 2 (350°C Cure)	
×	Plasma	150 W for 25 seconds	
9	Dehydration Bake	Vacuum oven at 110° C for 20 minutes	
10	Adhesion Promoter	VM652. Spin speed 1. 500 RPM $a=500 \text{ rpm/s}$	
		2. 3000 RPM $a=1000 \text{ rpm/s } t=30s$	
11	Soft Bake	hotplate bake at $120^{\circ}C = 60s$	
12	PI Spin	1. 500 rpm a=500 rpm/s t=5s, 2. 1600 RPM a=1000 RPMs/s t=30s	
13	Bake	hotplate bake at 120° C t=5 mins.	
14	Cure	Profile 2 (350°C Cure)	
		Signal Line Definition	
15	Dehydration Bake	Vacuum Oven at 110°C for 20 minutes	
13	HMDS Coat	Place in HMDS beaker for 10 minutes	HMDS is found in an amber bottle
14	PR	AZ-9245: spin speed 1. 1700 RPM t=5s, $a=500 \text{ RPM/s}$	
		2. 2200 RPM t=25s a= 1000 RPM/s	
15	Soft Bake	hotplate bake at 110° C t=90s	
16	Mask Alignment	Exposure time: 25 seconds Alignment gap: 25μ m	Mask:M1
17	Development	3:1 DI Water: AZ 400k. Agitate solution prior to placing	
		wafer in solution. Rinse in DI water and N ₂ blow dry	
		Ratio: 150 mL of DI water, 50 mL Developer	
			2 minute development time
18	Nb Deposition	a. 2 minutes of ion milling at 1 kV. b. $P=1 \text{ kW}/6.1 \text{ mTorr}/30 \text{ minutes}$	
19	Lift-off	Rinse in acetone/methanol/IPA	

Table B.3: Embedded Microstrip Traveler 1/3

Step No.	Process	Parameters	Remarks
		Dielectric Encapsulation layer	
20	Signal	Kapton tape the signal line	
21	Dehydration Bake	Vacuum oven at 110°C for 20 minutes	
22	Adhesion Promoter	VM652. Spin speed 1. 500 RPM $a=500 \text{ rpm/s}$	
		2. $3000 \text{ RPM } a = 1000 \text{ rpm/s } t = 30s$	
23	Soft Bake	hotplate bake at 120° C t=60s	
24	PI Spin	1. 500 rpm $a=500$ rpm/s $t=5s$, 2. 1600 RPM $a=1000$ RPMs/s $t=30s$	
25	Bake	hotplate bake at 120° C t=5 mins.	
26	Signal	Remove Kapton tape	
27	Cure	Profile 5 (225°C Cure)	
		Under Bump Metallization	
20	Dehydration Bake	Vacuum oven at 110°C for 20 minutes	
21	HMDS Coat	Place in HMDS beaker for 10 minutes	HMDS is found in an amber bottle
22	PR	AZ-9245: spin speed 1. 1700 RPM $t=5s$, $a=500 \text{ RPM/s}$	
		2. 2200 RPM t=25s a= 1000 RPM/s	
23	Soft Bake	hotplate bake at 110° C t=90s	
24	Mask Alignment	Exposure time: 25 seconds Alignment gap: 25μ m	Mask:UBM
25	Development	3:1 DI Water: AZ 400k. Agitate solution prior to placing	
		wafer in solution. Rinse in DI water and N ₂ blow dry	
		Ratio: 150 mL of DI water, 50 mL Developer	
			2 minute development time
26	UBM	a. 2 minutes of ion milling at 1 kV. b. Ti: 500 Å(2Å/s), Cu: 5000Å(2\AA/s)	
27	Lift-off	Rinse in acetone/methanol/IPA	

Table B.4: Embedded Microstrip Traveler2/2

Step No.	Process	Parameters	Remarks
		Release Sample & Ground Plane Metallization	
28	PR	AZ-9245: spin speed 1. 1700 RPM $t=5s$, $a=500 \text{ RPM/s}$	
		2. 2200 RPM t=25s a= 1000 RPM/s	
29	Soft Bake	hotplate bake at $110^{\circ}C t=90s$	
30	Dice samples	Use profile ANG/5inch profile	
31	Salt Solution	2M (Moles/L) solution of NaCl based on 1L of H20.	
		(a) Pour 500 mL of DI water into beaker (b) 117 gramsof NaCl.	
		Pour into beaker and fill with water until 1L	
32	Sample Release	Connect ground to the metal mesh, and apply 0.6 V to the sample	
33	Surface clean	rinse in acetone/methanol/IPA, followed by DI water	
34	Backside Sample	Mount sample onto a wafer with the backside exposed	
35	Nb Deposition	a. 2 minutes of ion milling at 1 kV. b. $P = 1 \text{ kW/6.1 mTorr/30 minutes}$	

Table B.5: Embedded Microstrip Traveler 3/3

Process		Parameters Signal Deposition and via01 contact	Remarks
Plasma exposure 150 W	150 W	for 25 seconds	
Dehydration Bake Vacuum	Vacuum	t oven at 110° C for 20 minutes	
HMDS Coat Place in	Place in	HMDS beaker for 10 minutes	HMDS is found in an amber bottle
PR AZ-9245: 2. 2200 F	AZ-9245: 2. 2200 F	spin speed 1. 1700 RPM t=5s, a=500 RPM/s RPM t=25s a= 1000 RPM/s	
Soft Bake hotplate	hotplate	bake at $110^{\circ}C = 90s$	
Mask Alignment Exposur	Exposur	e time: 25 seconds Alignment gap: $25\mu m$	Mask:UBM
Development 3:1 DI W	3:1 DI W	later: AZ 400k. Agitate solution prior to placing	
wafer in s	wafer in s	solution. Rinse in DI water and N_2 blow dry	
Ratio: 15	Ratio: 15	0 mL of DI water, 50 mL Developer	2 minute development time
Nb Deposition a. 2 minu	a. 2 minu	ttes of ion milling at 1 kV. b. $P = 1 \text{ kW}/6.1 \text{ mTorr}/30 \text{ minutes}$	
Lift-off Rinse in	Rinse in	acetone/methanol/IPA	
Dielectric	Dielectric	spin-on and via12 etch	
Dehydration Bake Vacuum	Vacuum	oven at 110°C for 20 minutes	
Adhesion Promoter VM652.	VM652.	Spin speed 1. 500 RPM $a=500 \text{ rpm/s}$	
2. 3000 R	2. 3000 R	PM = 1000 rpm/s t = 30s	
Soft Bake hotplate l	hotplate h	take at 120° C t=60s	
PI Spin 1. 500 rp	1.500 rp	m a=500 rpm/s t=5s, 2. 1600 RPM a=1000 RPMs/s t=30s	
Bake hotplate	hotplate	bake at 120° C t=5 mins.	
Cure Profile 2	Profile 2	$(350^{\circ}C \text{ Cure})$	
Bake hotplate	hotplate	bake at 110° C t=20 mins.	
Al hard mask a. 2 min	a. 2 min	utes of ion milling at 1 kV a. 2000 Å Al	
Bake hotplate	hotplate	bake at 110° C t=20 mins.	
HMDS Coat Place in	Place in	HMDS beaker for 10 minutes	HMDS is found in an amber bottle
PR AZ-9245	AZ-9245	: spin speed 1. 1700 RPM t=5s, $a=500 \text{ RPM/s}$	
2. 2200 I	2. 2200 I	$\rm RPM~t{=}25s~a{=}~1000~\rm RPM/s$	
Mask Alignment Exposure	Exposure	e time: 25 seconds Alignment gap: 25 μ m	Mask:via12
Development 3:1 DI V	3:1 DI V	Vater: AZ 400k. Agitate solution prior to placing	
Isotropic via etch Load in	Load in	to Branson IPC asher, $P=1000W$ for $t=60$ minutes	
Anisotropic via etch Load in	Load in	to AOE etcher, PBrad profile	verify etch
Aluminum etch load wa	load wa:	fers into J.T. Baker 80-15-3-2 solution	

Step No.	Process	Parameters	Remarks
		Top ground plane deposition	
50	Plasma exposure	150 W for 25 seconds	
51	Dehydration Bake	Vacuum oven at 110°C for 20 minutes	
52	HMDS Coat	Place in HMDS beaker for 10 minutes	HMDS is found in an amber bottle
53	PR	AZ-9245: spin speed 1. 1700 RPM $t=5s$, $a=500 \text{ RPM/s}$	
		2. 2200 RPM t=25s a= 1000 RPM/s	
54	Soft Bake	hotplate bake at 110° C t=90s	
55	Mask Alignment	Exposure time: 25 seconds Alignment gap: $25\mu m$	Mask:M2
56	Development	3:1 DI Water: AZ 400k. Agitate solution prior to placing	
		wafer in solution. Rinse in DI water and N ₂ blow dry	
		Ratio: 150 mL of DI water, 50 mL Developer	
			2 minute development time
57	Nb Deposition	a. 2 minutes of ion milling at 1 kV. b. $P = 1 \text{ kW}/6.1 \text{ mTorr}/30 \text{ minutes}$	
58	Lift-off	Rinse in acetone/methanol/IPA	
		UBM deposition	
59	Dehydration Bake	Vacuum Oven at 110°C for 20 minutes	
60	HMDS Coat	Place in HMDS beaker for 10 minutes	HMDS is found in an amber bottle
61	Soft Bake	hotplate bake at 110° C t=90s	
62	Mask Alignment	Exposure time: 25 seconds Alignment gap: 25μ m	Mask:M2
63	Development	3:1 DI Water: AZ 400k. Agitate solution prior to placing	
		wafer in solution. Rinse in DI water and N ₂ blow dry	
		Ratio: 150 mL of DI water, 50 mL Developer	
			2 minute development time
64	UBM	a. 2 minutes of ion milling at 1 kV. b. Ti: 500 Å(2Å/s), Cu: 5000Å(2\AA/s)	
65	Lift-off	Rinse in acetone/methanol/IPA	

Table B.8: Stripline Traveler 3/4

Step No.	Process	Parameters	Remarks
		Release Sample	
66	PR	AZ-9245: spin speed 1. 1700 RPM t=5s, $a=500 \text{ RPM/s}$	
		2. 2200 RFM $0=208$ d= 1000 RFM/S	
67	Soft Bake	hotplate bake at 110° C t=90s	
68	Dice samples	Use profile ANG/5inch profile	
69	Salt Solution	2M (Moles/L) solution of NaCl based on 1L of H20.	
		(a) Pour 500 mL of DI water into beaker (b) 117 gramsof NaCl.	
		Pour into beaker and fill with water until 1L	
70	Sample Release	Connect ground to the metal mesh, and apply 0.6 V to the sample	
71	Surface clean	rinse in acetone/methanol/IPA, followed by DI water	

Table B.9: Stripline Traveler 4/4